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HOLCIM PHILIPPINES, INC. 
 
 

INFORMATION STATEMENT 
 
 

WE ARE NOT ASKING FOR A PROXY AND  
YOU ARE REQUESTED NOT TO SEND US A PROXY. 

   
 
A.   GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 
ITEM 1.   DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF ANNUAL MEETING  

OF SECURITY HOLDERS (THE “ANNUAL MEETING”) 
 
(a) Date:   May 18, 2016, Wednesday 
  

Time:   10:00 a.m. 
  
 Place:   The Ballroom, 2nd Level, New World Makati Hotel 
    Esperanza Street corner Makati Avenue 
    Ayala Center, 1228 Makati City 
 
 Principal office:  7th Floor, Two World Square   

   McKinley Hill, Fort Bonifacio 
   Taguig City, Philippines 

 
(b) Approximate date on which copies of the Information Statement are first to be sent or 

given to Security Holders: 
 
 April 25, 2016 
 
 
ITEM 2. DISSENTERS’ RIGHT OF APPRAISAL 
 
Pursuant to Section 81 of the Corporation Code, (1) in case of amendment to the articles of 
incorporation that has the effect of changing or restricting the rights of any stockholder or class 
of shares, or of authorizing preferences in any respect superior to those of outstanding shares 
of any class, or of extending or shortening the term of corporate existence, (2) in case of lease, 
exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or substantially all of the 
corporate property and assets as provided in the Corporation Code, and (3) in case of merger 
or consolidation, any stockholder of the Company shall have the right to dissent and demand 
payment of the fair value of his shares.   
 
As provided in Section 82 of the Corporation Code, this appraisal right may be exercised by 
any stockholder who shall have dissented to such corporate action, by making a written 
demand on the Company within thirty (30) days after the date on which the vote was taken, for 
payment of the fair value of his shares.  Failure to make the demand within such period shall 
be deemed a waiver of the appraisal right.  
 
Within ten (10) days after demanding payment for his shares, a dissenting stockholder shall 
submit to the Company the certificate(s) of stock representing his shares for notation thereon 
that such shares are dissenting shares. His failure to do so shall, at the option of the Company, 
terminate his appraisal rights. No demand for payment as aforesaid may be withdrawn by the 
dissenting stockholder unless the Company consents thereto.  
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If the corporate action is implemented or effected, the Company shall pay to such dissenting 
stockholder, upon surrender of the certificate(s) of stock representing his shares, the fair value 
thereof as of the day prior to the date on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation 
or depreciation in anticipation of a merger if such be the corporate action involved. 
 
If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the 
stockholders, the withdrawing stockholder and the Company cannot agree on the fair value of 
the shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons, one of 
whom shall be named by the stockholder, another by the Company, and the third by the two 
(2) thus chosen. The findings of the majority of the appraisers shall be final, and their award 
shall be paid by the Company within thirty (30) days after such award is made.  No payment 
shall be made to any dissenting stockholder unless the Company has unrestricted retained 
earnings in its books to cover such payment.  Upon payment by the Company of the agreed or 
awarded price, the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his shares to the Company. 
 
No matter will be presented for stockholders’ approval during the Annual Meeting that 
may occasion the exercise of the right of appraisal.  
 
 
ITEM 3. INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON 

 
No director or officer of the Company since the beginning of the last fiscal year, or any 
nominee for election as director, or any of their associates, has any substantial interest, direct 
or indirect, by security holdings or otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon at the Annual 
Meeting, other than election to office. 
 
No director of the Company has informed the Company in writing that he intends to oppose 
any action to be taken by the Company at the Annual Meeting. 

 
 

B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 
 
ITEM 4. VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF  
 
(a) Voting securities entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting 
 
As of April 18, 2016, there are 6,452,099,144 shares of the Company’s common stock 
outstanding and entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting. One share is equivalent to one vote 
except in the election of directors where one share is entitled to as many votes as there are 
directors to be elected.   
  
(b) Record Date 
 
Only stockholders of record at the close of business on April 18, 2016 (the “Record Date”) 
acting in person or by proxy on the day of the Annual Meeting are entitled to notice of, and to 
vote at, the Annual Meeting.  
 
(c) Election of directors and voting rights (Cumulative Voting) 
 
Cumulative voting is allowed for election of members of the Board.  Please refer to Item 19(b) 
(Voting Procedures).  
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(d) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners and Management 
 

(1) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners 
 

The table below shows persons or groups known to the Company as of April 18, 2016 to 
be directly or indirectly the record or beneficial owner of more than 5% of the Company’s 
voting securities:  

Title of 
Class 

Name, Address, 
Citizenship of Record 
Owner & Relationship 

 with Issuer 

Name of Beneficial 
Owner 

And Relationship 
with  

Record Owner 

No. of Shares 
Held 

% of 
Ownership 

Common Union Cement Holdings 
Corp. (“UCHC”) 
7F Two World Square 
McKinley Hill 
Fort Bonifacio 
Taguig City, Philippines 
 (Filipino) 
 
Stockholder 

Union Cement 
Holdings Corp. 
(same as record 
owner) 
 
 

3,906,425,509 60.55% 

Common Holderfin B.V. 
(“Holderfin”) 
De Lairessestraat 129Hs 
1075 HJ Amsterdam  
The Netherlands  
(Dutch) 
 
Stockholder 

Holderfin B.V. 
(same as record 
owner) 
 
 1,168,450,997  18.11% 

Common Sumitomo Osaka Cement 
Co., Ltd. (“Sumitomo”) 
1, Kanda Mitoshiro-cho 
Chiyoda-ku, Tokyo 101-
8677 Japan 
(Japanese) 
 
Stockholder 

Sumitomo Osaka  
Cement Co., Ltd. 
(same as record 
owner) 
 
 
 

 
594,952,725 

 
9.22% 

Common Cemco Holdings, Inc. 
(“Cemco”) 
815/816 Tower One &  
Exchange Plaza 
Ayala Triangle, Ayala 
Avenue Makati City, 
Philippines  
(Filipino) 
 
Stockholder 

Cemco Holdings, Inc. 
(same as record 
owner) 
 
 
 

 
 
 

456,689,560 

 
 
 

07.08% 

 
The respective Board of Directors of each of UCHC, Holderfin, Sumitomo and Cemco 
has the power to decide how their shares in the Company are to be voted. 
 
The Company only has common shares outstanding.  As of April 18, 2016, the 
Company’s foreign stockholders hold 30.05% of the common shares. 
 
 (2) Security Ownership of Management  

 
The table below shows the securities beneficially owned by all directors and executive 
officers of the Company as of April 18, 2016:  
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Title of 
Class 

 
Name and Address of  

Beneficial Owner 

 
Amount & 
Nature of 
Beneficial 
Ownership 

 
Citizenship 

 
% of 

Ownership 

Common Tomas I. Alcantara 1(D) Filipino 0.00% 
Common Ian S. Thackwray 1(D) British 0.00% 
Common Eduardo A. Sahagun 1(D) Filipino 0.00% 
Common Daniel Bach 1(D) Swiss 0.00% 

Common Simeon V Marcelo 1(D) Filipino 
 

0.00% 
54,262 (I) 0.00% 

Common Yasuo Kitamoto 1(D) Japanese 0.00% 
Common David Lucas B. Balangue 1(D) Filipino 0.00% 

94,000(I) 
 Total 148,269  0.00% 

 
 

Directors and officers as a group hold a total of 148,269 common shares, equivalent to 
approximately 0.00% of the Company’s issued and outstanding capital stock. 

 
(e) Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more 

 
No person holds 5% or more of the issued and outstanding shares of stock of the Company 
under a voting trust or similar agreement. 

 
(f) Changes in Control 
 
There were no material changes in the control of the Company since the beginning of the 
Company’s last fiscal year. UCHC still holds the controlling interest in the Company.  
 
ITEM 5. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS  
 
 (a) The Board of Directors 

 
The Board is responsible for the overall management and direction of the Company.  The 
Board meets regularly every quarter, or as often as required, to review and monitor the 
Company’s financial position and operations.  Each Board member serves for a term of one 
year or until his successor is duly elected and qualified.  None of the members of the Board 
owns more than 2% of the total outstanding shares of the Company. 

 
The following are the members of the Board:  

 
Office Name Age Nationality 

Chairman Tomas I. Alcantara 68 Filipino 
Vice Chairman  Ian S. Thackwray 57 British 
Director Eduardo A. Sahagun 58 Filipino 
Director Daniel Bach 52 Swiss 
Independent Director  Simeon V. Marcelo 62 Filipino 
Independent Director  Yasuo Kitamoto 55 Japanese 
Independent Director David Lucas B. Balangue 64 Filipino 

     
Set forth below are the business experience of the Board during the last five years:  

 
Tomas I. Alcantara is the Chairman of the Board of the Company.  He was elected 
Director of the Company on July 4, 2003. Mr. Alcantara holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Economics from Ateneo de Manila University, a Masters in Business 
Administration degree from Columbia University, USA and attended the Advance 
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Management Program of the Harvard Business School. Mr. Alcantara was 
Undersecretary for the Industry & Investment Group of the Department of Trade and 
Industry and the Vice Chairman and Managing Head of the Board of Investments from 
July 1986 to March 1995. He was also Special Envoy of the Philippine President to 
APEC in 1996. He is presently the Chairman and President of Alsons Consolidated 
Resources, Inc., and of several power and property development companies in the 
Alcantara Group. He is Chairman of the Eagle Ridge Golf & Country Club, Inc. and a 
director of Philweb Corporation.  
 
Ian S. Thackwray holds an MA (Hons) in Chemistry from Oxford University and is also 
a chartered accountant. After his studies, he joined Price Waterhouse and handled 
major corporate accounts in Europe. In 1985, he started a career with a major 
multinational in the chemicals industry, serving in various management roles in Europe, 
North America and particularly in Asia. From 2004 to 2006, he served the Asian/Pacific 
President based out of Shanghai. In 2006, he joined Holcim and was elected COO and 
director of the Company. In 2010, the Board of Directors of Holcim Ltd appointed him a 
member of the Executive Committee with regional responsibility for countries in East 
Asia, including China, as well as the Philippines, and Oceania. In July 2015, Mr. 
Thackwray was appointed Regional Head for Asia Pacific. 
 
Eduardo A. Sahagun is the Company’s President and Country Chief Executive Officer. 
He was the Senior Vice President for Sales, Marketing and Distribution & Technical 
Services from 2007 to 2012.  Prior to that, he was the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company.  He holds a Bachelor of Science in Commerce degree and is a Certified 
Public Accountant.  He also holds a Masters in Management Science degree from the 
Arthur D. Little Management Education Institute in Boston, Massachusetts and a 
Masters in Business Administration degree from Ateneo Graduate School of Business.  
In November 1989, he was elected as Assistant Vice President – Comptroller of Davao 
Union Cement Corporation and has since then been appointed to occupy various key 
executive positions in the PHINMA Cement Group. He was elected as director of the 
Company in July 2010. 
 
Daniel N. Bach was formerly a member of the Board of Directors and the Company’s 
Senior Vice President for Manufacturing in 2007 until his assignment as CEO of Holcim 
Romania in 2011.  In January 2014, he took on a new role as Holcim’s Area Manager for 
South East Asia. He graduated with a Mechanical Engineering degree and a doctoral 
degree in Technical Sciences, both from the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology in 
Zurich, Switzerland.  
 
Yasuo Kitamoto holds a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Doshisha University in 
Kyoto, Japan. He is currently General Manager responsible for International Business of 
Sumitomo Osaka Cement Co., Ltd.  Prior to his current position, he was Deputy General 
Manager, General Affairs Department in 2005 and General Manager, Corporate 
Planning Department in 2008 of Sumitomo Osaka Cement Co., Ltd. 
 
Simeon V. Marcelo graduated among the top of his class at the University of the 
Philippines - College of Law and placed 5th in the 1979 bar examination. He served as 
Solicitor General from February 2001 to October 2003 and was Ombudsman from 
October 2003 to November 2005. From 2007 to 2010, Mr. Marcelo served as Executive 
Secretary of the Asian Development Bank Administrative Tribunal and from 2008 to 
June 2014, was a member of the World Bank’s Independent Advisory Board (on good 
governance and anti-corruption matters). Mr. Marcelo was also elected as the President 
of the Philippine Bar Association from 2009 to 2010. During its Centennial Year 2013, 
the University of the Philippines Alumni Association conferred upon him the 
Distinguished Alumni Award in Public Service. He is the Chief Executive Officer of Cruz 
Marcelo & Tenefrancia Law Offices. Mr. Marcelo was elected as independent director of 
the Company in 2014. 
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David Lucas B. Balangue is a certified public accountant with a Bachelor’s Degree in 
Commerce, major in Accounting, Magna Cum Laude, from Manuel L. Quezon University 
and a Master of Management degree, with distinction, from the Kellogg Graduate School 
of Management.  He placed second highest in the 1972 Philippine CPA Board 
Examinations. Mr. Balangue’s career in the accounting and auditing professions 
spanned 38 years at SGV & Co., where he was Chairman from January 2004 to January 
2010 and Managing Partner from January 2004 to February 2009, after being admitted 
to partnership in 1982. He is currently the Chairman of the Philippine Center for 
Population and Development, the Philippine Financial Reporting Standards Council, the 
National Citizens Movement for Free Elections (NAMFREL) and Coalition Against 
Corruption and a non-executive independent director of the following listed companies: 
Trans-Asia Oil and Energy Development Corp., Roxas Holdings, Inc., Philippine Bank of 
Communications and Manulife Financial Corp. 
 

Directorships in other reporting companies 
 
The following are directorships held by the Company’s directors in other reporting companies 
during the past five years:  
 

Name of Director Name of Reporting Company 
 

Tomas I. Alcantara Alsons Consolidated Resources, Inc.  
 Eagle Ridge Golf & Country Club, Inc.  
 PhilWeb Corporation  
  
David Lucas B. Balangue Trans-Asia Oil and Energy Development Corp. 

Roxas Holdings, Inc. 
Philippine Bank of Communications 
Manulife Financial Corp. 

 
Nomination of Directors for 2016-2017 
 
The directors of the Company elected at the Annual Meeting shall hold office for one year and 
until their respective successors have been elected and qualified.  

 
The following are the nominees to the Board of Directors:  

1. Tomas I. Alcantara 
2. Ian S. Thackwray 
3. Eduardo A. Sahagun 
4. Daniel N. Bach 
5. Yasuo Kitamoto (Independent Director) 
6. Simeon V. Marcelo (Independent Director) 
7. David Lucas B. Balangue (Independent Director) 

 
The Company has no reason to believe that any of the aforesaid nominees will be unwilling or 
unable to serve if elected as a director.   
 
Ms. Raquel M. De Guzman nominated Messrs. Kitamoto, Marcelo and Balangue as 
Independent Directors of the Company. Ms. De Guzman is not related to Messrs. Kitamoto, 
Marcelo and Balangue by consanguinity or affinity, and has no professional or business 
dealings with them. Messrs. Kitamoto, Marcelo and Balangue are neither officers nor 
substantial shareholders of the Company. 
 
The nominees for independent directors possess the qualifications and none of the 
disqualifications of independent directors under relevant rules of the Securities Regulation 
Code (the “SRC”) and its implementing rules and regulations (the “SRC Rules”). 
 
The respective business experiences of Messrs. Kitamoto, Marcelo and Balangue are set forth 
above.   
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The matter of the nomination and election of Independent Directors form part of a set of 
guidelines for the Nomination Committee. These guidelines define qualifications, 
disqualifications and procedures for the screening and short listing of candidates nominated to 
the Board.   
 
The members of the Nomination Committee are as follows:  
 

1. Simeon V. Marcelo  -    Chairman (Independent Director) 
2.    Yasuo Kitamoto      -    Member (Independent Director) 
3.    David Lucas B. Balangue   -    Member (Independent Director) 

 
For this Annual Meeting, the Nomination Committee shall screen and evaluate the candidates 
for Independent Directors, using the committee’s guidelines, pertinent provisions of the 
Company’s Manual on Good Corporate Governance, its By-Laws and relevant issuances 
under the SRC and the SRC Rules.    
 
The Company’s By-laws reflect the procedures for the nomination and election of independent 
directors in accordance with SRC Rule 38, as amended. 
 
Upon their election, the individuals nominated as independent directors shall submit to the 
SEC a certification on their qualification as independent directors.  
 
(b) The Executive Officers  
 
The Company’s executive officers are likewise elected annually by the Board and serve for 
one year and until their respective successors have been elected. None of the officers of the 
Company own more than 2% of the total outstanding shares of the Company. 

 
The Company’s executive officers are set forth below:  
 

Position Name Age Nationality 
President and Country Chief Executive Officer Eduardo A. Sahagun 58 Filipino 
Head – Cement Industrial Performance Roman Menz 42 Swiss 
Head – Sales William C. Sumalinog 46 Filipino 
Head – Human Resources Araceli E. Gonzales 53 Filipino 
Head – Communication and Corporate Affairs Nerissa V. Ronquillo 58 Filipino 
Head – Corporate Health, Safety & Security Carmela Dolores S. 

Calimbas 
59 Filipino 

Treasurer Shirley S. Go 39 Filipino 
General Counsel/Corporate 
Secretary/Compliance Officer 

Kristine N. L. 
Evangelista 

42 Filipino 

 
The business experience of Mr. Eduardo A. Sahagun during the last five years is 
provided above. Below sets forth the business experience of the Company’s other 
executive officers during the last five years:  
 
Roman Menz is the Head of Cement Industrial Performance. Roman holds a Bachelor 
of Science degree in Electrical Power Engineering from the Higher Technical College in 
Baden, Switzerland and a Masters degree in Electrical Engineering from the University 
of Brunel in London. Before joining the Company, he became a plant manager of Holcim 
Romania in November 2005, a technical director of Holcim Russia Russia in August 
2012, and a manufacturing director of Holcim Vietnam in March 2015.  
 
William C. Sumalinog is the Head of Sales. William holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Computer Engineering from the University of Cebu where he graduated with 
leadership honors in 1992. He started his career in sales as a sales representative in 
Market Developers, Inc., where he went on to assume other sales positions. He joined 
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Alsons Cement Corporation in 1998 where he occupied various key positions in sales. 
Prior to assuming his current position, he was the Company’s Regional Operating Head 
for various areas in Mindanao and Visayas since 2005. 

 
Araceli E. Gonzales is the Head of Human Resources. She is a graduate of 
Psychology from Ateneo de Manila University with a Masters degree in Industrial 
Relations with focus on Human Resources Management from the University of the 
Philippines. She has more than 25 years of HR experience honed in consumer, 
manufacturing, pharmaceutical, agro-industrial and telecommunication industries 
covering both domestic and international HR services. She also has 8 years of 
consulting work in HR and leadership development. Before joining HPI, she was VP for 
HR Solutions of Smart Communications.  
 
Nerissa V. Ronquillo is the Head of Communication and Corporate Affairs. She 
obtained her Bachelor of Arts degree in Broadcast Communication at the University of 
the Philippines as an entrance scholar of the Kapisanan ng mga Brodkaster ng 
Pilipinas/Broadcast Media Council. A communications and an accredited public relations 
professional, she has over 35 years of experience in the profession. She was Head of 
Publications and Communications, then Advertising and Special Events, and General 
Public Programs of the Manila Electric Company (Meralco). From 2009 to 2013, she 
was Regional Director for North Asia of the San Francisco-based International 
Association of Business Communicators (IABC), President of IABC Philippines in its 30th 
year, and currently Chairman of its Board of Trustees. In 2013, she became the first 
Filipina to be named as Director of the International Executive Board of IABC and 
Trustee of the IABC Foundation. 

 
Carmela Dolores S. Calimbas is the Head of Corporate Health, Safety & Security.   
She holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering from the University of 
San Carlos in Cebu. Before joining the Company in May 2008, she was the Manager for 
Environment, Health and Safety of James Hardie Philippines from November 2004 to 
May 2008.  Prior to this, she had ten years of work experience in the field of safety, 
health and environment.  
 
Shirley S. Go is the Treasurer and the Head of Group Tax of the Company. She earned 
her Bachelor of Science degree in Accountancy from De La Salle University, and is a 
Certified Public Accountant.  Prior to joining the Company in 2010, she worked with 
Punongbayan and Araullo for 12 years. 
 
Kristine Ninotschka L. Evangelista is the Corporate Secretary, General Counsel and 
Compliance Officer of the Company. She holds a Bachelor of Science Major in Legal 
Management degree from the Ateneo de Manila University and obtained her Juris 
Doctor degree from Ateneo Law School. In 1999, she joined SyCip Salazar Hernandez 
& Gatmaitan Law as an associate. She joined the Company in 2008 as Senior Legal 
Counsel. She was elected as Assistant Corporate Secretary of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. She assumed her current role and was elected Corporate Secretary in 
2014. 
 

(c) Family Relationships    
 
No member of the Board or any executive officer of the Company is related by affinity or 
consanguinity.                  
 
(d) Independent Directors 
 
Messrs. Yasuo Kitamoto, Simeon V. Marcelo and David Lucas B. Balangue are the Company’s 
Independent Directors.  They are neither officers nor substantial shareholders of the Company. 
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(e) Executive Officers and Significant Employees  
 
The following managers in the Company’s Finance department are responsible for financial 
planning, control, reporting, as well as accounting and tax.  
  

Position Name Age Nationality 
Head – Group Controlling and Planning Glenn A. Agustin 42 Filipino 
Head – Information Management and Reporting Alexader V. Taar 33 Filipino 
Head – Group Tax and Treasury Shirley S. Go 39 Filipino 

 
Set forth below is the business experience of Mr. Glenn A. Agustin during the last five years:  

 
Glenn A. Agustin is the Head for Group Controlling and Planning.  He graduated from 
the University of Santo Tomas with a degree of Bachelor of Science in Commerce, 
major in Accounting.  He is a Certified Public Accountant and Certified Internal Auditor.  
Before joining the Company, he worked with various companies including SGV and Co. 
and Bacnotan Consolidated Industries Inc. He joined the Company in 2004 as an 
internal auditor and started to work in Finance as Plant Controller in 2008, and Area 
Finance Manager in 2009 and Manager of Finance and Reporting in 2011.  He assumed 
his post as Head-Group Controller on December 1, 2013. 
 
Alexander V. Taar  is the Head for Information Management and Reporting.  He 
graduated from the Philippine School of Business Administration with a degree of 
Bachelor of Science in Accountancy.  He is a Certified Public Accountant and obtained 
his Masters in Business Administration from Ateneo Graduate School of Business.  Prior 
to joining the Company, he worked with various companies including Chevron Holdings 
Inc. He joined the Company in 2013 as Head of Process and Control.  He assumed his 
post as Head for Information Management and Reporting on October 1, 2015. 
 
The business experience of Ms. Shirley S. Go is provided above. 

 
(f) Warrants and Options Outstanding 
 
There are no warrants or options granted by the Company to any of its directors or executive 
officers. 
 
(g) Involvement of Directors and Officers in Legal Proceedings 
 
To the knowledge and/or information of the Company, the present members of the Board of 
Directors or the Executive Officers are not, presently, or during the last five (5) years, involved 
or have been involved in criminal, bankruptcy or insolvency investigations or proceedings 
except for the pending legal proceedings involving certain directors and executive officers of 
the Company and its subsidiaries described in Annex A hereof.  
 
(h) Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

 
For a disclosure of the material related party transactions, please see Note 25 –Related Party 
Transactions to the Consolidated Financial Statements attached to this Information Statement. 
 
Except for the transactions discussed in Note 25 (Related Party Transactions) to the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements in Item 13.1, there were no other material 
related party transactions during the last three financial years, nor are there any material 
transactions currently proposed between the Company and any: (i) director, officer, direct or 
indirect owner of 10% or more of the outstanding shares in the Company; (ii) close family 
member of such director, officer or owner; (iii) associates of the Company; (iv) enterprises 
controlling, controlled by or under common control with the Company; or (v) enterprises in 
which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or indirectly, by any director, 
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officer or owner of 10% or more of the outstanding shares in the Company or any close family 
member of such director, key officer or owner, or collectively, the Related Parties.  
 
(i) Disagreement with a Director  
 
No director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the Board since the date of the 
last annual stockholders’ meeting because of a disagreement with the Company on any matter 
relating to the Company’s operations, policies or practices. 
  
 
ITEM 6. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS   

 
The members of the Board were paid a bonus based on net income. Beginning 2005, they 
agreed to be compensated at a lower fixed rate for each calendar year.  

 
The compensation received by the officers who are not members of the Board represents 
salaries, bonuses and benefits.  

 
The compensation received by the Executive Officers represents salaries, bonuses and 
benefits.  

  
Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Benefits 

The CEO and four most highly compensated 
Executive Officers: 
 
�� Eduardo A. Sahagun – President & 

Country CEO 
�� Andre G. Caluori – SVP, 

Manufacturing***  
�� Carmela Calimbas – Head, Corporate 

Health, Safety & Security 
�� Araceli Gonzales – Head, HR 
� William Sumalinog – Head, Sales 
 

2016* 53,266,776 11,910,120         6,136,558 

2015 53,266,776 11,910,120         6,136,558 

2014 52,136,086 16,110,756 1,605,024 

All other Executive Officers and Directors** 
as a group unnamed 

2016* 45,022,140 8,878,561 9,219,130 

2015 45,022,140 8,878,561 9,219,130 

2014 45,024,811 10,199,264 23,915,072 
*Estimated compensation of executive officers for the ensuing year is assumed to approximate the 2015 level.  
Bonuses given are driven by actual performance of the company; hence, estimate may vary from actual.   
**Directors’ fees are a fixed annual fee.  
*** Andre G. Caluori was replaced by Roman Menz on December 4, 2015. 

 
Other than directors’ fees, the directors of the Company do not receive any other 
compensation from the Company, including any of the following arrangements:  
 
a. standard arrangement and any other material arrangements; 
b.  employment contract (between the Company and named executive officers); 
c.  compensatory plan or arrangement; 
d.  outstanding warrants or options; 
e. adjustments or amendments on the price of stock warrants or options.  
 
 
ITEM 7.  INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
 
The accounting firm of SGV has been the Company’s independent public accountant/external 
auditor for the last five years.  The same accounting firm is being recommended for re-
appointment by the stockholders at the Annual Meeting. Representatives of said firm are 
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expected to be present at the Annual Meeting.  They will have the opportunity to make a 
statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate 
questions.  SGV has accepted the Company’s invitation to stand for re-appointment this year.  
 
The Company complies with SRC Rule 68, Part I, Item 3(B)(iv)(ix) on the 5-year rotation of the 
External Auditor and the two-year cooling-off period on the re-engagement of the same signing 
partner or individual auditor. The Company engaged SGV for the examination of the 
Company’s financial statements for the year 2015.  Previously, the Company engaged Mr. 
Gemilo San Pedro of SGV for the examination of the Company’s financial statements for the 
years 2009 to 2011. He was replaced by Ms. Catherine E. Lopez, for the years 2012 to 2015. 
For 2016, Mr. Roel E. Lucas is the partner-in-charge of SGV for the examination of the 
Company’s financial statements. 

 
Audit and Audit-Related Fees  
 
The aggregate fees billed for each of the last two (2) fiscal years for professional services 
rendered by SGV was P11.4M for 2015, and P10.4M for 2014.  These fees cover services 
rendered by the external auditor for audit of the financial statements of the Company and other 
services in connection with statutory and regulatory filings for fiscal years 2015 and 2014. 
 
Tax Fees & Other Fees  
 
The Company engaged SGV for tax services, due diligence audit and advisory services with 
fees of P13.1M and P0.5M in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 
There was no event in the past five years where SGV and the Company had any disagreement 
with regard to any matter relating to accounting principles or practices, financial statement 
disclosure or auditing scope or procedure. 
 
The audit findings are presented to the Company’s Audit Committee which reviews and makes 
recommendations to the Board on actions to be taken thereon.  The Board passes upon and 
approves the Audit Committee’s recommendations. 
 
The members of the Audit Committee of the Company are as follows:  
 

1. David Lucas B. Balangue          - Chairman (Independent Director) 
2. Simeon V. Marcelo  - Member (Independent Director) 
3. Daniel N. Bach                       - Member   
4. Tomas I. Alcantara   - Member  
 
 

ITEM 8. COMPENSATION PLANS  
 
No action is to be taken with respect to any plan pursuant to which cash or non-cash 
compensation may be paid or distributed.  
 
 
C.  ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
 

 
ITEM 9.    AUTHORIZATION OR ISSUANCE OF SECURITIES OTHER THAN FOR EXCHANGE 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
ITEM 10. MODIFICATION OR EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
 
Not applicable. 
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ITEM 11.  FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION 
 
The audited financial statements of the Company for the period ended December 31, 2015 is 
attached as Annex B.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Operations is incorporated 
in the Management Report. 
 
Representatives of the Company’s external auditor, SGV, are expected to be present at the 
Annual Meeting, and they will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so 
and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions from the stockholders. 
The Company has had no material disagreement with SGV on any matter of accounting 
principle or practices or disclosures in the Company’s financial statements. 

 
 

ITEM 12. MERGERS, CONSOLIDATIONS, ACQUISITIONS AND SIMILAR MATTERS 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
ITEM 13. ACQUISITION OR DISPOSITION OF PROPERTY 
 
Not applicable. 
 
 
ITEM 14. RESTATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 
 
The Company is not taking any action, which involves the restatement of any of its assets, 
capital or surplus account.   

 
 

D. OTHER MATTERS 
 
  
ITEM 15.  ACTION WITH RESPECT TO REPORTS AND OTHER PROPOSED ACTION 
 
There is no action to be taken with respect to any report of the Company or of its directors, 
officers or committees, except the approval of the minutes of the previous annual stockholders’ 
meeting, and the Annual Report of the Company for 2015.   
 
Other proposed actions include ratification of all acts, investments, proceedings and 
resolutions of the Board, the Committees and the acts of the officers and management since 
the date of the last annual meeting. The matters for stockholders’ ratification are acts of the 
Board, the Executive Committee, officers and management from the previous stockholders’ 
meeting up to the date of the Annual Meeting which were entered into or made in the ordinary 
course of business and transactions and the following transactions, covered by appropriate 
disclosures with the PSE and SEC: 

 
Date of Disclosure Subject 

May 18, 2015 � Declaration of cash dividend in the amount of Php0.82 per share 
to all stockholders of record as of June 15, 2015 and setting the 
payment date no later than July 9, 2015 
 

July 10, 2015 � Authorizing the Company to make an offer for, and should the 
offer be accepted, to proceed with, the acquisition by the 
Company and/or its wholly-owned subsidiary Holcim Mining and 
Development Corporation of, the following Lafarge group assets 
in the Philippines consisting of (a) shares of stock of Lafarge 
Iligan, Inc., Lafarge Mindanao, Inc., Lafarge Republic 
Aggregates, Inc., Quimson Limestones, Inc., Sigma Cee Mining 
Corporation, and APC Properties, Inc., (b) Star Terminal assets 
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Date of Disclosure Subject 
located at the Harbour Centre, Manila, and (c) certain parcels of 
land as identified by the parties, and Mr. Eduardo A. Sahagun, 
President and CEO, to sign, execute and deliver any and all 
agreements and documents, including share and asset purchase 
agreements, deeds, certificates, disclosure statements, notices, 
applications, consents, and regulatory filings, and to perform all 
acts, for and on behalf of the Corporation, as may be necessary 
and/or desirable, in order to complete and implement the above 
transactions, under such terms and conditions as he may deem 
in the best interest of the Corporation and consistent with said 
Board approved conditions. 
 

August 3, 2015 � Execution of agreement with Lafarge Republic, Inc., Lafarge 
Holdings (Philippines), Inc., Calumboyan Holdings, Inc., Luzon 
Continental Land Corporation and Broadfields Properties, Ltd. 
for the purchase of the following assets consisting of (a) shares 
of stock of Lafarge Republic Aggregates, Inc., Quimson 
Limestones, Inc., Sigma Cee Mining Corporation, and APC 
Properties, Inc., (b) Star Terminal assets located at the Harbour 
Centre, Manila, and (c) certain parcels of land. 
 

October 27, 2015 
 

� Execution of a Shareholders Agreement governing Holcim 
Mining and Development Corporation (HMDC) with HMDC, the 
Holcim Philippines Inc. Retirement Fund (RF) and Holcim 
Philippines Manufacturing Corporation in relation to the 
proposed subscription by the RF of shares in HMDC. 
 

December 4, 2015 � Appointment of the heads of new functions  
 

February 23, 2016 � Amendment of Article III, Section 8 of the Company’s By-Laws to 
authorize the President, upon recommendation of the 
Compensation Committee, to fix and/or increase the fees, 
remuneration and per diems of any Director or other officer of 
the Corporation as may be necessary; provided, that in no case 
shall the yearly remuneration of directors serving as such 
directors exceed 10% of the net income before tax of the 
Company during the preceding year 

� Approval of the Company’s Audited Financial Statements for  
2015 and the SEC Form 17-A Report 

� Approval of the nomination of Sycip Gorres Velayo & Co. as the 
Company’s external auditor for the year 2016 

� Setting the Company’s annual stockholders’ meeting for 2015 on 
May 18, 2016, and a record date for stockholders entitled to 
notice of, and to vote, at the annual meeting to April 18, 2016, 
and delegating to the Corporate Secretary the agenda, venue 
and time of the annual stockholders’ meeting. 
 

 
The approval of the minutes, Annual Report and audited financial statements for the period 
ended December 31, 2015, and ratification of all acts, proceedings and resolutions of the 
Board, the Executive Committee and the acts of the officers and management since the date 
of the last annual meeting require the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast at the 
Annual Meeting by the stockholders entitled to vote.  
 
ITEM 16. MATTERS NOT REQUIRED TO BE SUBMITTED 
 
There is no action to be taken with respect to any matter which is not required to be submitted 
to a vote of security holders.  
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ITEM 17. AMENDMENT OF CHARTER, BYLAWS OR OTHER DOCUMENTS 
 
On February 23, 2016, the Board approved resolutions to amend Article III, Section 8 of the 
Company’s By-Laws to authorize the President, upon recommendation of the Compensation 
Committee, to fix and/or increase the remuneration of any Director or other officer of the 
Corporation as may be necessary; provided, that in no case shall the yearly remuneration of 
directors serving as such directors exceed 10% of the net income before tax of the Company 
during the preceding year. The purpose of the amendment is to confirm the express grant of 
authority to fix the compensation of directors and officers in accordance with Section 30 of the 
Corporation Code. Section 30 of the Corporation Code authorizes the grant of compensation 
(other than per diems) to directors by the vote of the stockholders representing at least a 
majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special stockholders’ meeting. 

 
 
ITEM 18. OTHER PROPOSED ACTION 
 
The following actions are also proposed to be taken up during the Annual Meeting: 
 
1.  Election of directors for 2016-2017; and 
2.   Appointment of external auditor. 
 
 
ITEM 19. VOTING PROCEDURES 
 
(a) Matters for Stockholders’ Approval 
  
As provided in Article I, Section 4 of the By-laws, a quorum at any meeting of stockholders 
shall consist of a majority of the entire subscribed capital stock of the Company represented in 
person or by proxy, and a majority of such quorum shall decide any question that may come 
before the meeting, except the matters in which Philippine laws require the affirmative vote of a 
greater proportion. A majority of the quorum at the Annual Meeting shall decide the matters to 
be taken up at the meeting, other than the amendment to the Articles and By-laws of the 
Company. 
 
Under the Corporation Code, the affirmative vote of stockholders representing at least a 
majority of the outstanding capital stock of the Company shall be necessary for the approval of 
the proposed amendment to the By-laws of the Company. 

 
(b) Election of directors 
 
Pursuant to the Corporation Code, every stockholder entitled to vote shall have the right to 
vote in person or by proxy the number of shares of stock standing, as of the record date, in his 
own name in the stock and transfer book of the Company; and said stockholder may vote such 
number of shares for as many persons as there are directors to be elected or he may cumulate 
said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of directors to be elected 
multiplied by the number of his shares shall equal, or he may distribute them on the same 
principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit; provided, that the total number of 
votes cast by him shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books 
of the Company multiplied by the number of directors to be elected. By way of illustration, the 
formula may be stated as follows: 
 
 Number of shares held on record x Ten (10)    =   Total votes that may be cast. 

 
Stockholders of record are entitled to one vote per share.  Voting may be done viva voce, by 
show of hands or by balloting. 

 
In accordance with Article I, Section 3 of the Amended By-laws, stockholders may vote at all 
meetings the number of shares registered in their respective names, either in person or by 
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proxy duly given in writing and duly presented to the Corporate Secretary for inspection and 
recorded at or prior to the opening of said meeting. No proxy bearing a signature which is not 
legally acknowledged shall be recognized at any meeting unless such signature is known and 
recognized by the Secretary of the meeting. 
 
All proxies shall be in writing, signed by the stockholders and filed in the office of the Corporate 
Secretary at least five (5) days before the meeting. 

 
The external auditor of the Company, SGV, is authorized to count votes on any matter properly 
brought to the vote of the stockholders, including the election of directors. 
 
The agenda for the Annual Meeting is as follows: 
 

1. Call to order 
2. Proof of notice and determination of existence of quorum 
3. Approval of the minutes of the previous annual stockholders’ meeting held on May 

18, 2015 (see Annex C) 
4. Approval of the Annual Report and the Audited Financial Statements of the 

Company for the period ended December 31, 2015 
5. Approval and ratification of all acts, contracts, investments and resolutions of the 

Board, Committees and Management since the last annual stockholders’ meeting 
6. Election of the members of the Board of Directors 
7. Appointment of external auditor 
8. Approval of amendment to Article III, Section 8 of the Company’s By-Laws 

(authority to fix the per diem, remuneration, and fees of the Company’s directors 
and officers) 

9.  Other Matters 
10.   Adjournment 
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HOLCIM PHILIPPINES, INC. 
 
 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 
 
 
I. CONSOLIDATED AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The consolidated audited financial statements of Holcim Philippines, Inc. (“HPI” or the 
“Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2015 attached to the Information Statement 
are incorporated herein by reference.   
 
 
II. CHANGES AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS  

ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 
There was no event in the past five years where SGV and the Company had any 
disagreement with regard to any matter relating to accounting principles or practices, 
financial statement disclosure or auditing scope or procedure. 
 
 
III. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OR PLAN OF OPERATION 
 
Review of CY 2015 Operations vs. CY 2014 
 
In 2015, the Country’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew by 5.8%*.  While lower 
compared with the 6.1% growth in 2014, the Philippine economy is still regarded as 
among the fastest growing economies in Asia. The growth in GDP was primarily driven by 
the growth in the Service sector despite slower realized growth in the Industry sector, 
contraction in the Agriculture sector brought about by the onset of El Nino, and adverse 
weather conditions during the latter part of the year. 
 
Similarly, the cement industry grew by 14.3%** year on year boosted by robust 
developments in private and public construction, particularly the accelerated government 
infrastructure spending in H2 2015. 
  
Driven by the strong demand from both public and private sector, the Company’s revenue 
increased to P=37.5 billion, or 14.9% higher compared to that of last year. As a result of the 
Company’s cost management initiatives, and manufacturing and distribution excellence 
with a strong sales performance, EBITDA amounted to P=9.5 billion compared with P=5.1 
billion, or 58.8% higher against that of last year. The increase was mainly due to the P=2.6 
billion one-time gain on re-measurement of retained equity in a subsidiary. Without the 
one-time gain, net income stood at P=5.5 Billion.  
*Source: Philippine Statistics Authority 
**Source: Cement Manufacturer’s Association of the Philippine 
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Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) 
 
The comparative financial KPI for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 are as 
follows: 
 

Financial KPI 
  

Definition For the Calendar Year 
ended December 31 
2015 2014 

        
Profitability       

    

Return on Assets (ROA) Net Income 25.1% 17.4% 
Ave. Total Assets 

    

  Return on Equity (ROE) Net Income 34.6% 23.6% 
Ave. Total Equity 

    

Operating EBITDA Margin Operating EBITDA 25.3% 26.5% 
Net Sales 

      
Liquidity     

   Gearing Ratio Net Financial Debt -4.1% -0.6% 
Total Equity 

      

EBITDA Net Interest Cover 
(times) 

Operating EBITDA 
161.4 282.1 Net Interest 

 
        
 
The financial KPIs identified above are the most relevant in measuring the Company’s 
performance given the nature of its business. 
 
Profitability 
 
ROA and ROE for CY 2015 grew as a result of higher profitability of the business.  This 
was also impacted by the re-measurement of retained equity in a subsidiary from the 
deconsolidation of HMDC group in December 2015. 
 
Liquidity 
 
The Company shows a strong liquidity base with a low gearing ratio, much below the 
100% target level.  
 

Significant Disclosures 
 
Please refer to the Annual Report for 2015 for the significant disclosures made by the 
Company during the year.  Other than those mentioned in the Annual Report for 2015, the 
Company is not aware of the following: 
 

1. Unusual items that materially affect the Company’s consolidated assets, 
liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows because of their nature, size or 
incidents. 

 
2. Changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the 

current financial year or changes in estimates of amounts in prior financial 
years that have a material effect in the current period. 
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3. Issuances and repurchase of equity securities. 
 

4. Material changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the last 
annual balance sheet date. 

 
5. Existence of material contingencies and other events of transactions that are 

material to an understanding of the current period.  
 

6. Known trends, demands, commitments, events and uncertainties that will 
result in or likely decrease its liquidity in a material way.  The Company does 
not anticipate having within the next 12 months any cash flow or liquidity 
problems nor does it anticipate any default or breach of any of its existing 
notes, loans, leases, other indebtedness or financial arrangements requiring it 
to make payments.  With the improvement in the Company’s operating 
performance, it expects to meet all financial loan covenants for the next 
interim period. 

 
7. Events that will trigger direct or contingent material financial obligations to the 

Company. 
 

8. Material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (direct or 
contingent), and other relationships of the Company with unconsolidated 
entities or other persons created during the year. 

 
9. Material commitments for capital expenditures. 

 
10. Known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 

expected to have a material favorable impact on net sales, revenues, net 
income from continuing operations. 

 
11. Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s 

continuing operations. 
 

12. Material events subsequent to end of the reporting period that have not been 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 

 
13. Material changes in the composition of the company, including any business 

combination, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term 
investments. 

 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
Accounting Policies and Principles 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company, which comprise the consolidated 
balance sheets as at December 31, 2015 and 2014 and the consolidated statements of 
income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2015 have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
applied on a consistent basis.  The detailed accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2 – 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Seasonality Aspects of the Business 
 
Like any other company in the construction industry, the operations of HPI are affected by 
seasonality or cyclicality.  During the months starting December to May, demand for 
cement is greater than the rainy months from June to November. 
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General Risk Management Approach 
 
The Company is exposed to various financial risks, which include the effect of changes in 
debt structure, equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.  
The Company’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential and adverse effects on the financial 
performance of the Company.  The Company uses derivative instruments such as cross-
currency swaps to hedge the interest and foreign exchange risks from its foreign 
currency-denominated debt.  The Company does not enter into other derivative or 
financial transactions which are unrelated to its operating business as a risk-averse 
approach is pursued. 

Financial risk management of the Company is governed by policies approved by 
management.  It provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies 
covering specific risk areas such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, counterparty 
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing assets in excess of liquidity 
requirements. 

The Company’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, consist of cash and 
cash equivalents and notes payable.  The main purpose of these financial instruments is 
to raise funds for the Company’s operations.  The Company also has various other 
financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, advances to 
employees, guarantee deposits, restricted cash and trade and other payables which arise 
directly from operations. 

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are market risks (which 
include foreign currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.  The Board 
of Directors (BOD) reviews and approves the policies for managing each of these risks 
and they are summarized below.  The Company’s accounting policies in relation to 
financial instruments are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Market Risks 
 
The Company is exposed to market risks, such as foreign currency, interest rate and 
equity price risks.  To manage volatility relating to these exposures, the Company enters 
into derivative financial instruments, when necessary.  The Company’s objective is to 
reduce, where appropriate, fluctuations in earnings and cash flows associated with 
changes in foreign currency, interest rate and equity price. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 
The Company has foreign exchange exposures, arising primarily from sales, purchases of 
goods and services and debt servicing requirements in currencies other than the 
Philippine Peso that leads to currency translation effects.  Of the Company’s revenues, 
approximately NIL in 2015 and 0.1% in 2014 and 0.2% 2013 are denominated in 
currencies other than the Philippine Peso.  The Company may hedge certain foreign 
currency-denominated borrowings or other instruments by entering into derivative 
transactions. 

 
Due to the local nature of the cement business, transaction risk is limited.  However, 
income may primarily be in local currency whereas debt servicing and significant amount 
of capital expenditures may be in foreign currencies.  As a consequence thereof, the 
Company may enter into derivative contracts whenever necessary, which may be 
designated either as cash flow hedges or fair value hedges, as appropriate. 
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Interest Rate Risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows from a financial instrument (cash flow 
interest rate risk) or its fair value (fair value interest rate risk) will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. 
 
The Company is exposed to fluctuations in financing costs and market value movements 
of its debt portfolio related to changes in market interest rates.  The Company’s interest 
rate exposure is mainly addressed through the steering of the fixed/floating ratio of net 
debt.  To manage this mix, the Company may enter into derivative transactions, as 
appropriate.  As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has minimal exposure to 
interest rate risk. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparties may not be able to settle their obligations as 
agreed.  To manage this risk, the Company periodically assesses the financial reliability of 
customers. 

The Company constantly monitors its credit risk exposures. Counterparties to financial 
instruments consist of a large number of major financial institutions.  The Company does 
not expect any counterparties to fail in meeting their obligations, given their high credit 
ratings.  In addition, the Company has no significant concentration of credit risk with any 
single counterparty or group of counterparties. 
 
The Company trades only with recognized, credit-worthy third parties.  It is the Company’s 
policy that all third-party customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis to reduce the Company’s exposure to bad debts to minimal. 
 
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company, which 
consist of due from related parties, advances to employees, available for sale (AFS) 
financial assets, and guarantee and refundable deposits, the Company’s exposures arise 
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount 
of these instruments. 

 
The Company’s exposure to credit risks arising from outstanding financial assets is 
disclosed in Note 15 – Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
its contractual obligations and commitments.  The seasonality of revenue generation 
exposes the Company to shortage of funds during slack season and may result in 
payment defaults of financial commitments.  The Company monitors this risk using a 
recurring liquidity planning tool.  This tool considers the maturity of both its financial 
assets and projected cash flows from operations.  The Company’s objective is to maintain 
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank credit 
facilities, finance leases and purchase contracts.  It is responsible for its own cash 
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover cash deficits, subject to policies and guidelines 
approved by management and in certain cases at the BOD level. 

 
The Company maintains sufficient reserves of cash and cash equivalents, which are 
short-term in nature, unused credit lines and readily available marketable securities to 
meet its liquidity requirements at all times.  In addition, the strong credit worthiness of the 
Company allows it to make efficient use of the financial markets for financing purposes.  
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As at December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has unutilized credit facilities of P=8.1 
billion and P=10.4 billion, respectively. 

 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are 
disclosed in Note 15 – Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
Capital Management Policy 
 
The Company considers equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent Company 
as its capital.  The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to secure the 
Company’s ongoing financial needs to continue as a going concern as well as to cater to 
its growth targets to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders 
and to maintain a cost-efficient and risk-optimized capital structure. 

 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of the 
changes in economic conditions, its business activities, investment and expansion 
program and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Company monitors capital, among others, on the basis of gearing ratio.  Gearing is 
calculated as net financial debt divided by total equity in the parent company balance 
sheets as shown in the table below: 
 
 2015 2014 
Notes payable P=999,831 P=2,100,105 
Customers’ deposits 505,987 468,823 
Financial debt 1,505,818 2,568,928 
Less cash and cash equivalents 2,540,198 2,698,207 
Net financial debt (asset) (1,034,380) (129,279) 
Total equity 24,969,466 22,095,277 
Gearing ratio (4.1%) (0.6%) 
 
The Company’s target is to maintain a gearing in the range of no more than 100 percent. 
 
Total equity grew by 13.0% in 2015 as a result of improving operating results for the year. 
 
Material Changes in Balance Sheet Accounts 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents were mainly due to the acquisition of PPE and 
higher dividends payment. 
 
Trade and other receivables  

 
Receivables increased as a result of higher sales made in December 2015 as compared 
to the same month of last year and higher DSO.  
 
Investments 
 
Increase was mainly driven by the re-measurement of retained equity in an associate that 
was previously 100% owned subsidiary after the deconsolidation in December 2015. 
  
Property, Plant and Equipment 

 
Decrease was mainly driven by disposals, retirement/impairment and result of 
deconsolidation. 
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Intangibles assets – net 
 
Decrease was due to the deconsolidation of the carrying values of the foreshore lease 
agreement in Mabini, Batangas and mining rights of the HMDC group. 
 
Deferred income tax assets – net 
 
Increase was attributable to the additional provisions/ accruals for allowance of doubtful 
accounts, decline in value of inventories and impairment losses on property, plant and 
equipment in 2015. 
 
Notes Payable 
 
Decrease was mainly due to the payment of P=1.0 billion loan from Union Cement 
Holdings Corporation. 
 
Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables increased by P=0.8 million, mainly driven by higher payables 
related to clinker and fuel importation. 
 
Income Tax Payable 
 
Increase was due to the higher taxable income for the Q4 as compared with that of the 
same period of 2014. 
 
Retirement Benefit Liabilities 
 
Decrease was mainly due to organizational efficiency and impact of deconsolidation. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities-net 
 
The increase was mainly attributable to unrealized foreign exchange gain. 
 
Reserves 
 
Decrease is mainly due to payment of share-based remuneration during the year. 
 
Re-measurement loss on retirement benefits – net 
 
The decrease was due to the updated assumptions and adjustments which are 
considered in the retirement liability calculation. 
 
Retained Earnings 
 
Increase was due to higher realized net income.  
 
Non-controlling interests 
 
Decrease was due to higher share in dividends declared than the share in realized net 
income during the year. 
 
Material Changes in Income Statement Accounts 
 
Revenues 
 
Increase was mainly driven by higher volume sold brought about by strong demand. 
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Cost of Sales 
 
The increase was mainly due to higher volume produced and sold as a result of robust 
demand and higher usage of imported clinker and cement. 
 
General and administrative expenses 
 
The increase was due to higher expenditure on third-party services related to corporate 
initiative projects and impairment provisions as compared to that of the prior year. 
 
Selling Expenses 

 
The increase was mainly due to higher costs related to third-party services and personnel 
cost. 
 
Interest and Other Financial Income 
 
The increase was due to higher interest earned on short-term deposits. 
 
Interest and Financing Charges 
 
The increase was due to higher interests realized for loans availed within the year. 
 
Foreign Exchange Gains (Losses) – net 
 
Increase was due to increase in dollar-denominated assets which were revalued at year-
end. 
 
Gain on re-measurement of retained equity in a subsidiary 
 
This pertains to the unrealized gain on the retained equity in HMDC. 
 
Others – net 
 
Increase was mainly due to gain on sale of assets during the year. 
 
Provision for Income Tax 
 
The increase was mainly due to the higher realized taxable income in 2015 compared to 
that of the previous year, and the taxes incurred from the transfer of land assets to 
HMDC.   

 
Review of CY 2014 Operations vs. CY 2013 
 
In 2014, the Country’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP) grew by 6.1%*.  While lower 
compared with the 7.2% growth in 2013, this has been the third consecutive year where 
more than 6% growth was realized.  Robust performance in manufacturing and 
construction and also from the services and agriculture sectors fueled such growth.   
 
Similarly, the cement industry grew by 9.5%** on the back of strong public and private 
infrastructure spending.   
 
Driven by the strong demand from both public and private sector, the Company’s revenue 
increased to P=32.6 billion, or 13% higher compared to last year. As a result of the 
Company’s cost management initiatives and manufacturing and distribution excellence 
with strong sales performance, EBITDA and net income for 2014 amounted to P=8.8 billion 
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and P=5.2 billion, respectively. An increase of 15.1% and 12.9% as compared to last year, 
respectively. 
*Source: National Statistical Coordination Board 
**Source: Cement Manufacturer’s Association of the Philippine 
 
 

Key Performance Indicators (“KPI”) 
 
 The comparative financial KPI for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 
are as follows: 
 

Financial KPI Definition For the Calendar Year 
ended December 31 
2014 2013 

        
Profitability       

    

Return on Assets (ROA) Net Income 17.4% 16.8% 
Ave. Total Assets 

    

  Return on Equity (ROE) Net Income 23.6% 21.7% 
Ave. Total Equity 

    

Operating EBITDA Margin Operating EBITDA 26.5% 26.3% 
Net Sales 

Liquidity      

   Gearing Ratio Net Financial Debt - 0.6% - 3.6% 
Total Equity 

    

EBITDA Net Interest Cover 
(times) 

Operating EBITDA 
282.1 Nil Net Interest 

 
        
 
 
The financial KPIs identified above are the most relevant in measuring the Company’s 
performance given the nature of its business. 
 
Profitability 
 
ROA, ROE and EBITDA margin for CY 2014 grew as a result of higher profitability of the 
business.   
 
Liquidity 
 
The Company shows a strong liquidity base with a lower gearing, much below the 100% 
target level.   
 
Significant Disclosures  
 
Please refer to the Annual Report for 2014 for the significant disclosures made by the 
Company during the year.  Other than those mentioned in the Annual Report for 2014, the 
Company is not aware of the following: 
 

1. Unusual items that materially affect the Company’s consolidated assets, 
liabilities, equity, net income or cash flows because of their nature, size or 
incidents. 
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2. Changes in estimates of amounts reported in prior interim periods of the 
current financial year or changes in estimates of amounts in prior financial 
years that have a material effect in the current period. 

 
3. Issuances and repurchase of equity securities. 
 
4. Material changes in contingent liabilities or contingent assets since the last 

annual balance sheet date. 
 
5. Existence of material contingencies and other events of transactions that are 

material to an understanding of the current period.  
 
6. Known trends, demands, commitments, events and uncertainties that will 

result in or likely decrease its liquidity in a material way.  The Company does 
not anticipate having within the next 12 months any cash flow or liquidity 
problems nor does it anticipate any default or breach of any of its existing 
notes, loans, leases, other indebtedness or financial arrangements requiring it 
to make payments.  With the improvement in the Company’s operating 
performance, it expects to meet all financial loan covenants for the next 
interim period. 

 
7. Events that will trigger direct or contingent material financial obligations to the 

Company. 
 
8. Material off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (direct or 

contingent), and other relationships of the Company with unconsolidated 
entities or other persons created during the year. 

 
9. Material commitments for capital expenditures. 
 
10. Known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or that are reasonably 

expected to have a material favorable impact on net sales, revenues, net 
income from continuing operations. 

 
11. Significant elements of income or loss that did not arise from the Company’s 

continuing operations. 
 
12. Material events subsequent to end of the reporting period that have not been 

reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
13. Material changes in the composition of the company, including any business 

combination, acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and long-term 
investments, restructurings and discontinuing operations. 

 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 
Accounting Policies and Principles 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Company, which comprise the consolidated 
balance sheets as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated statements of 
income, statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and 
statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 
2014 have been prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
applied on a consistent basis.  The detailed accounting policies are disclosed in Note 2 – 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Seasonality Aspects of the Business 
 
Like any other company in the construction industry, the operations of HPI are affected by 
seasonality or cyclicality.  During the months starting December to May, demand for 
cement is greater than the rainy months from June to November. 

General Risk Management Approach 
 
The Company is exposed to various financial risks, which include the effect of changes in 
debt structure, equity market prices and foreign currency exchange rates. The Company’s 
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimize potential and adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Company.  The Company uses derivative instruments such as cross-currency swaps to 
hedge the foreign exchange risks from its foreign currency-denominated debt.  The 
Company does not enter into other derivative or financial transactions which are unrelated 
to its operating business as a risk-averse approach is pursued. 
 
Financial risk management of the Company is governed by policies approved by 
management.  It provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies 
covering specific risk areas such as interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, counterparty 
risk, use of derivative financial instruments and investing assets in excess of liquidity 
requirements. 
 
The Company’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives, consist of cash and 
cash equivalents, notes payable and long-term debt.  The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to raise funds for the Company’s operations.  The Company also has 
various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and other receivables, due from 
related parties, advances to employees, guarantee deposits, restricted cash and trade 
and other payables, which arise directly from operations. 
 
The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are market risks credit 
risk and liquidity risk.  The BOD reviews and approves the policies for managing each of 
these risks and they are summarized below.  The Company’s accounting policies in 
relation to financial instruments are set out in Note 2 to the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Market Risks 
 
The Company is exposed to market risks, such as foreign currency and interest rate.  To 
manage volatility relating to these exposures, the Company enters into derivative financial 
instruments, when necessary.  The Company’s objective is to reduce, where appropriate, 
fluctuations in earnings and cash flows associated with changes in foreign currency, 
interest rate and equity price. 

Foreign Currency Risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Company has foreign exchange exposures arising primarily from sales, purchases of 
goods and services and debt servicing requirements in currencies other than the 
Philippine Peso that leads to currency translation effects.  Of the Company’s revenue, 
approximately 0.1% in 2014 and 0.2% in 2013 and 2012 are denominated in currencies 
other than the Philippine Peso.  The Company may hedge certain foreign currency-
denominated borrowings or other instruments by entering into derivative transactions. 

Due to the local nature of the cement business, transaction risk is limited.  However, 
income may primarily be in local currency whereas debt servicing and significant amount 
of capital expenditures may be in foreign currencies.  As a consequence thereof, the 
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Company may enter into derivative contracts whenever necessary, which may be 
designated either as cash flow hedges or fair value hedges, as appropriate. 
 
The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is disclosed in Note 16 – Financial Risk 
Management Objectives and Policies in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparties may not be able to settle their obligations as 
agreed.  To manage this risk, the Company periodically assesses the financial reliability of 
customers. 
 
The Company constantly monitors its credit risk exposures.  Counterparties to financial 
instruments consist of a large number of major financial institutions.  The Company does 
not expect any counterparties to fail in meeting their obligations, given their high credit 
ratings.  In addition, the Company has no significant concentration of credit risk with any 
single counterparty or group of counterparties. 
 
The Company trades only with recognized, credit-worthy third parties.  It is the Company’s 
policy that all third party customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit 
verification procedures.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing 
basis to reduce the Company’s exposure to bad debts to minimal. 
 
With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Company, which 
consist of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), available for sale 
(AFS) financial assets, due from related parties, advances to employees, advances to 
subsidiaries and guarantee deposit, the Company’s exposures arise from default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 
instruments. 

 
The Company’s exposure to credit risks arising from outstanding financial assets is 
disclosed in Note 15 – Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 
Liquidity Risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
its contractual obligations and commitments.  The seasonality of revenue generation 
exposes the Company to shortage of funds during slack season and may result in 
payment defaults of financial commitments.  The Company monitors this risk using a 
recurring liquidity planning tool.  This tool considers the maturity of both its financial 
assets and projected cash flows from operations.  The Company’s objective is to maintain 
a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank credit 
facilities, finance leases and purchase contracts.  It is responsible for its own cash 
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover cash deficits, subject to policies and guidelines 
approved by management and in certain cases at the Board of Directors (BOD) level. 

 
The Company maintains sufficient reserves of cash and cash equivalents, which are 
short-term in nature, unused credit lines and readily available marketable securities to 
meet its liquidity requirements at all times.  In addition, the strong credit worthiness of the 
Company allows it to make efficient use of the financial markets for financing purposes.  
As at December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company has unused credit facilities of P=10.4 
billion and P=3.0 billion, respectively. 

 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2014 and 2013 are 
disclosed in Note 15 – Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Capital Management Policy 
 
The Company considers total equity in the parent company balance sheet as its capital.  
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to secure the Company’s ongoing 
financial needs to continue as a going concern as well as to cater for its growth targets to 
provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain a 
cost-efficient and risk-optimized capital structure. 

 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of the 
changes in economic conditions, its business activities, investment and expansion 
program and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust the 
capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The Company monitors capital, among others, on the basis of gearing ratio.  Gearing is 
calculated as net financial debt divided by total equity in the parent company balance 
sheets as shown in the table below: 
 
 2014 2013 
Notes payable P=2,100,105 P=893,000 
Customers’ deposits 468,823 480,249 
Financial debt 2,568,928 1,373,249 
Less cash and cash equivalents 2,698,207 2,149,104 
Net financial debt (asset) (129,279) (775,855) 
Total equity 22,095,277 21,476,327 
Gearing ratio (0.6%) (3.6%) 
 
The Company’s target is to maintain a gearing in the range of no more than 100 percent. 
 
Total equity grew by 2.9% in 2014 as a result of improvement in operating results for the 
year. 
 
Material Changes in Balance Sheet Accounts  
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents were mainly due to the higher cash generated from 
operations during the year. 
 
Trade and other receivables  

 
Receivables increase due to the higher sales made in December 2014 as compared to 
that of the same period of last year, DSO remains to be at 21 days. 
 
Inventories 

 
Increase in inventories in preparation for the anticipated higher demand in the first quarter 
of the succeeding year. 

 
Other Current Assets 
 
Decrease was driven by lower down payment, prepaid expenses and creditable 
withholding taxes as a result of tax application. 
 
Intangibles assets – net 
 
Increase was mainly driven by the new foreshore lease agreement resulting from the 
acquisition of the port facility in Mabini, Batangas. 
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Deferred income tax asset – net  
 
Attributable to the additional provisions/accruals for allowance for doubtful accounts, 
retirement and other accruals in 2014. 
 
Other non-current Assets 
 
The decrease was mainly due to deposits to vendors amounting to P=96.7 million 
reclassified to other current assets. 
 
Notes Payable 
 
Increase was due to the availment of a short-term loan for working capital requirements 
and for the purchase of the port facility in Mabini, Batangas. 
 
Trade and Other Payables 
 
Trade and other payables increased mainly due to higher group payables related to 
importations. 
 
Income Tax Payable 
 
Increase was due to higher income tax recorded for the period. 
 
Retirement Benefit Liabilities 
 
Increase was mainly due to higher employee pension liability for the Company’s defined 
benefit incentive for its employees. 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities – net  
 
The decrease was mainly attributable to the reduction in depreciation expense, 
amortization of site restoration costs and unamortized capitalized interests which are 
nondeductible expense. 
 
Remeasurement loss on retirement benefits – net 
 
The decrease was due to the updating of the assumptions and experience adjustments 
considered in the retirement liability calculation. 
 
Retained Earnings 
 
Increase was due to higher realized net income.  
 
Non-controlling interests 
 
Decrease due to change in ownership in 2014. 
Material Changes in Income Statement Accounts 
 
Revenues 
 
Increase mainly due to 12% higher volume sold for 2014 compared to that of last year. 
 
Cost of Sales 
 
The increase was mainly due to increase in input costs such as raw materials and 
electricity charges to support the increase in sales volume. 
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General and administrative expenses 
 
The increase was due to higher personnel costs and expenditure on corporate initiative 
projects. 
 
Interest and Other Financial Income 
 
The lower realized interest income was due to lower interest rates for short-term deposits. 
 
Interest and Financing Charges 
 
The increase was due to higher loans availed within the year. 
 
Foreign Exchange Gains (Losses) – net 
 
Recognized gain was due to the Peso depreciation in 2014 as compared to 2013 closing 
rates. 
 
Gain on sale of investment in joint venture 
 
There was no investment sold in 2014. 
 
Others – net 
 
Increase driven by gain on sale of other properties sold during the year.  
 
Provision for Income Tax 
 
The increase was mainly due to the higher realized taxable income in 2014 as compared 
to previous year. 
 
Information on Independent Accountant  
 
The accounting firm of SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (“SGV”) has been the Company’s 
independent public accountant / external auditor for the last five years. 
 
Audit and Related Fees 
 
The aggregate fees billed for each of the last two fiscal years for professional services 
rendered by the external auditor are as follows: 
 

2015 P=11.4M 
2014 P=10.4M 

 
These fees, inclusive of out-of-pocket expenses, cover services rendered by the external 
auditor for audit of the financial statements of the Company and other services in 
connection with statutory and regulatory filings for years 2015 and 2014. 
 
Tax Fees & All Other Fees 
 
The Company engaged SGV for tax services, due diligence audit and advisory services 
with fees of P=13.1 million and P=0.5 million in 2015 and 2014, respectively. 
 
The Company’s Manual of Corporate Governance provides that the audit committee shall 
perform oversight functions over the Company’s internal and external auditors, ensure the 
independence of both internal and external auditors from each other, and make certain 
that both auditors are given unrestricted access to all records, properties and personnel to 
enable them to perform their respective audit functions.   
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In relation to the audit of the Company’s financial statements, the Company’s Manual of 
Corporate Governance provides that the audit committee shall: 

 
• Prior to the commencement of the audit, discuss with the external auditor the 

nature, scope and expenses of the audit scope; 
 

• Determine the extent of the internal and external auditor’s responsibility in the 
preparation of the financial statements of the Company 
 

• Review the reports submitted by the internal and external auditors; 
 

• Evaluate and determine the non-audit work, if any, of the external auditor, and 
review periodically the non-audit fees paid to the external auditor in relation to 
their significance to the total annual income of the external auditor and to the 
Company’s overall consultancy expenses.  The Audit Committee shall disallow 
any non-audit work that will conflict with his duties as an external auditor or may 
pose a threat to his independence.  The non-audit work, if allowed, shall be 
disclosed in the Company’s annual report. 
 

• Pre-approve all audit plans, scope and frequency one (1) month before the 
conduct of external audit. 

 
Upon recommendation and approval of the Audit Committee, the appointment of the 
external auditor is proposed for confirmation by the shareholders at the annual 
stockholders’ meeting. In addition, the consolidated financial statements are approved by 
the Board of Directors before its release 
 
 
IV. BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE GENERAL NATURE  

AND SCOPE OF THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Item 1 Business   

Holcim Philippines, Inc. (HPI or the “Company”), is one of the premier cement 
manufacturers in the Philippines and is a member of the LafargeHolcim Group, one of the 
world’s leading suppliers of cement, as well as aggregates, concrete and construction-
related services. HPI is mainly engaged in the manufacture, sale and distribution of 
cement and clinker.   
  
The Company and its subsidiaries own four production facilities, one cement grinding mill, 
five ports, as well as multiple storage and distribution points across the country. HPI has 
the most extensive sales and distribution network in the Philippine cement industry.   

The consolidated operations of the four cement production facilities have fortified HPI’s 
premier position in the Philippine cement industry with a total installed clinker production 
capacity of 6.2 million metric tons per year (MTPY) and cement production capacity of 
10.2 million MTPY.   

 
HPI was the first in the Philippine cement industry to receive ISO 9002 certification 
(Quality Management System Standards) from the International Organization for 
Standardization (ISO). Additionally, all four plants are ISO 14001 certified (Environment 
Management System Standards) and OH&S 18001 (Occupational Health & Safety 
Management) certified. 
 
“Holcim” is one of the top selling brands and quality leaders in the Philippines.  
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(1) History and Business Development 

HPI was incorporated and registered with the Philippines Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) on November 12, 1964 under the name Hi-Cement Corporation 
(HCC).   
  
On February 8, 2000, the SEC approved the merger of HCC, Davao Union Cement 
Corporation (DUCC), and Bacnotan Cement Corporation (BCC), with HCC as the 
surviving entity. Simultaneously, the SEC also approved the request for a change of 
corporate name from HCC to Union Cement Corporation (UCC).   
 
On January 11, 2001, the SEC approved the merger of Atlas Cement Marketing 
Corporation (ACMC), Davao Union Marketing Corporation (DUMC) and Bacnotan 
Marketing Corporation (BMC) into UCC. 
 
On July 17, 2002, the Board of Directors of UCC approved the acquisition of 88% of the 
issued and outstanding common shares of Alsons Cement Corporation (ACC) from 
Cemco Holdings, Inc. (Cemco). In consideration of such shares, new shares of UCC were 
issued to Cemco, at the exchange ratio of one (1) UCC share for every 3.7 ACC shares 
owned by Cemco, thus, making ACC a subsidiary of UCC.   
 
Pursuant to the Securities Regulation Code (SRC) and its implementing rules and 
regulations, HPI undertook a tender offer in favor of the remaining 12% non-controlling 
shareholders of ACC to exchange their holdings in ACC for new shares of UCC at the 
same exchange ratio, with the option to accept cash at a price of P=0.28 per ACC share, in 
lieu of HPI shares. The foregoing transactions were approved by shareholders of UCC on 
September 4, 2002. The Company acquired additional ACC shares representing 0.02% 
equity interest in ACC after the end of the tender offer period. 

 
On September 19, 2002, the Board of Directors of ACC approved a resolution for the 
delisting of the shares of stocks of the company from the Philippine Stock Exchange 
(PSE).  The PSE approved the resolution for the delisting on December 15, 2002. 

 
On August 17, 2004, the SEC approved ACC’s reverse stock split, increasing the par 
value of ACC’s shares to P=1,000 per share from P=0.50 per share.  As a result of additional 
purchases from the remaining non-controlling shareholders of ACC in 2004 and the effect 
of the reverse stock split, UCC equity interest in ACC increased from 98.74% to 99.6%.  
 
On November 30, 2004, the SEC approved the request for change in corporate name 
from UCC to HPI.  On January 19, 2005, the SEC also approved the change in corporate 
name of ACC to Holcim Philippines Manufacturing Corp. (HPMC). 
 
On June 30, 2006, the SEC likewise approved the merger of HPMC with its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, Northern Mindanao Transport Co., Inc. (NMTC). 
  
As of December 31, 2015, HPI is 60.55% owned by Union Cement Holdings Corporation 
(UCHC), 18.11% owned by Holderfin B.V. (Holderfin), and 7.08% owned by Cemco while 
the remainder of its shares is owned by the public. HPI common shares are listed in the 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). 
 
The Company’s Subsidiaries and Associates 
 
Holcim Philippines Manufacturing Corporation (HPMC) 
 
HPMC was incorporated and registered with the SEC on February 7, 1968 under the 
name of Victory Cement Corporation. 

 
HPMC has two dry process lines in Northern Mindanao, giving HPMC a combined rated 
clinker capacity of 1.8 million MTPY. Of these two, the larger 1.2 million MTPY line was 
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successfully commissioned in 1998 and started commercial operation in January 1999. 
HPMC’s terminal located in Calaca, Batangas, which had been idle for several years, was 
rehabilitated in 2010 and resumed operations beginning January 2011.   
 
In 2004, HPMC stockholders approved the lease contract with HPI covering substantially 
all of HPMC’s cement manufacturing assets.  The lease contract was extended up to 
December 31, 2015 and renewed for another six months until June 2016. 
  
HPMC’s subsidiary, Calamba Aggregates Company, Inc. (CACI), was incorporated and 
registered with the SEC on October 15, 1992, that operated an aggregates plant in 
Laguna. CACI ceased operations effective December 31, 2013. CACI is in the process of 
completing regulatory requirements for its eventual dissolution.  

 
NMTC, a then wholly owned subsidiary of HPMC, was incorporated and registered with 
the SEC on February 4, 1972. In addition to chartering vessels, NMTC owned a fleet of 
vessels that provided the sea transport requirements of HPI. On June 30, 2006, the SEC 
approved the merger of NMTC and HPMC, with HPMC as the surviving company.   

 
HPMC’s wholly owned subsidiary, Bulkcem Philippines, Inc. (BPI), was incorporated and 
registered with the SEC on April 5, 1995. Today, BPI has a bulk terminal located in Iloilo.   

 
Alsons Construction Chemicals, Inc. (ALCHEM), another subsidiary, owned a cement and 
mineral admixture plant in Lugait, Misamis Oriental, was incorporated in the Philippines 
and was registered with the SEC on December 23, 1996.  The operation of ALCHEM was 
discontinued since July 1999. 

 
Holcim Mining and Development Corporation (HMDC)  
 
Holcim Mining and Development Corporation (formerly Sulu Resources Development 
Corp.) was incorporated and registered with the SEC on October 5, 1987. Sulu Resources 
holds a Mineral Production Sharing Agreement covering certain mineral claims in Rizal.  
On August 21, 2008, HMDC was acquired by the Company.                                                                                                               
On March 15, 2010, the SEC approved the request for change in name of Sulu Resources 
to Holcim Aggregates Corporation (HAC).  In 2011, the Company started to engage in the 
business of trading aggregates. On July 14, 2011, the SEC approved the request for 
change from HAC to Holcim Mining and Development Corporation (HMDC). On 
November 13, 2013, the Board of Directors and shareholders of HMDC approved the 
increase in the authorized capital stock of HMDC to make way for additional subscription 
by HPI, in consideration of properties such as parcels of land, mining claims and 
foreshore leases.  On March 6, 2014, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital 
stock of HMDC from P=250,000,000.00 to P=1,065,000,000.00. 

HMDC’s wholly owned subsidiary, Holcim Resources Development Corporation (HRDC) 
is engaged in mining, processing and sale of quarry resources.  HRDC was incorporated 
in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on May 9, 2005.  

 
In July 2014, HMDC acquired a new subsidiary, Lucky One Realty Ventures, Inc. 
(LORVI), which owns a port facility and foreshore lease in Mabini, Batangas. LORVI was 
incorporated and registered with the SEC on June 23, 1998.  

 
On August 2015, HMDC acquired the following new subsidiaries: Lafarge Republic 
Aggregates, Inc. (LRAI), Quimson Limestones, Inc. (“QLI”), Sigma Cee Mining 
Corporation (SCMC), and APC Properties, Inc. (“APC”). LRAI was incorporated in the 
Philippines and registered with the SEC on January 16, 2008 as Batong Angono 
Aggregates Corp., and operates an aggregates quarry in Rizal. On October 2015, the 
SEC approved the request for change of name from LRAI to LafargeHolcim Aggregates, 
Inc. (LHAI). QLI was incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on 
January 16, 1992 and is engaged in the business of quarry operations. SCMC was 
incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on August 3, 1994 and is 
engaged in the business of exploration, mining and processing of minerals. APC was 
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incorporated in the Philippines and registered with the SEC on August 22, 1997 and is 
engaged in the business of purchasing and selling of properties. 

 
In October 2015, HMDC, its shareholders HPI and HPMC, together with the Holcim 
Philippines, Inc. Retirement Fund (RF), executed a Shareholders Agreement governing 
HMDC, in relation to the subscription by the RF of shares in HMDC.  HPI and HPMC 
waived their respective pre-emptive rights allowing the RF to subscribe to 60% of the 
issued and outstanding capital stock of HMDC.  HMDC’s application for increase in capital 
stock to cover RF’s subscription is pending with the SEC. 

 
Pursuant to the subscription by the RF to 60% of the issued and outstanding capital stock 
of HMDC, HPI and HPMC appointed and designated RF as their proxy for their respective 
60% voting shares in HMDC, which proxy is irrevocable until SEC approves the increase 
in capital stock, and three nominees of RF were elected to the five-member Board of 
HMDC. As of December 31, 2015, the RF has effectively taken over the control of HMDC. 

 
Excel Concrete Logistics, Inc. (ECLI) 
 
Excel Concrete Logistics, Inc. was incorporated and registered with the SEC on August 9, 
2012.  On January 1, 2013, ECLI started its full operation servicing the distribution, transport 
and placing of concrete, cement and other similar products of the ready-mix sub-segment of 
HPI. 

 
Holcim Philippines Business Services Center, Inc. (HPBSCI) 
 
Holcim Philippines Business Services Center, Inc. was incorporated and registered with the 
SEC on February 4, 2014.  HPBSCI was set up to engage in the business of providing 
business process outsourcing and other information technology-enabled services to the 
Holcim Group. On February 13, 2015, HPBSCI transferred and sold its intellectual property 
rights and leasehold improvements to Holcim East Asia Business Service Centre B.V. – 
Philippine ROHQ. 
 
HuBB Stores and Services Inc. (HSSI) 
 
HuBB Stores and Services Inc. was incorporated and registered with the SEC on June 2, 
2014.  HSSI was set up to engage in the business of buying, selling and distributing 
construction or building materials, and to operate, maintain and franchise stores for the sale 
and distribution of said materials.  
 
Mabini Grinding Mill Corporation (MGMC) 
 
Mabini Grinding Mill Corporation was incorporated and registered with the SEC on 
September 29, 1999.  In August 2013, the rehabilitation of the MGMC’s grinding station in 
Mabini, Batangas was completed and commenced operation.  
 
Bankruptcy Proceedings 
 
The Company is not a party to any bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings. 
 
Material Reclassification, Merger, Consolidation  
 
Other than the above-mentioned reclassification, merger, acquisition and consolidation, 
the Company is not a party to any merger or consolidation for the period ending 
December 31, 2015.   

 
 (2) General Business Description   

 
HPI is engaged in the manufacture, sale and distribution of cement, dry mix mortar 
products, clinker, ready mix concrete and, through HMDC, has an interest in the 
aggregates business of LHAI.  With the Company’s production facilities, ports, storage 
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and distribution terminals, sales offices and channel partners, HPI has the most extensive 
sales and distribution network in the Philippine cement industry. The Company’s product 
quality and operational capability are geared towards meeting the customers’ needs here 
and abroad. 

 
(a) Product Lines 

 
HPI manufactures four main cement product brands namely:  Holcim Premium 
(Type 1 Portland cement), Holcim 4X (Type 1 high performance Portland cement), 
Holcim Excel (Type 1P Blended cement), and Holcim WallRight (Type S Masonry 
cement). Its products are sold in bags, tonner bags, jumbo bags and in bulk. HPI 
also sells to cement producers a semi-finished product called clinker, which is sold 
only in bulk.  
 
HPI also has a ready-mix concrete business. With HMDC’s acquisition of LHAI, the 
Company gained interest in the aggregates business.   HPI also sells dry mix 
mortar products as follows:  Holcim Tile Adhesive, Holcim Skim Coat and Holcim 
Cementitious Waterproofing. 

 
All HPI products meet Philippine National Standards (PNS) and American Society 
for Testing and Materials (ASTM) product quality standards. 
 
Below is a brief description of HPI’s various products: 
 
Holcim Premium 
 
Holcim Premium is an ASTM Type I Portland Cement.  It is used for general 
concrete construction.  To make Portland cement, powdered limestone, silica and 
iron-rich materials are homogenized and burnt at 1500oC.  The resulting material is 
called clinker.  Portland cement is produced by grinding clinker with a small amount 
of gypsum, a set retarder. When Portland cement is mixed with water and 
aggregates to make concrete, the mixture is initially flowable and easy to place, 
mold and finish.  Eventually, the concrete sets, hardens and produces a strong and 
durable construction material. 

 
Holcim 4X 
 
Holcim 4X is an ASTM C150 high performance Portland cement. It is specially 
formulated          for ready mix concrete applications.  It has high compressive 
strength, high workability and is compatible with commonly available admixtures.  
Supplied in bulk, Holcim 4X is mainly used for high-rise buildings and vertical 
structures that require high-strength cement.  It is ideal for construction that 
requires optimized concrete mix designs and fast construction cycles. With the high 
28-day compressive strength of Holcim 4X, lower cement factor is needed resulting 
in lower construction costs. Longer setting time results in better slump retention and 
pumpability of concrete.    
 
Holcim Excel  
 
Holcim Excel Cement is an ASTM Type IP Cement, which is Portland cement 
combined with advanced mineral additives. It is sold mainly in 40-kg. bags and 
used for general concrete construction.  Advanced mineral additives (including 
granulated blast furnace slag) are inter-ground with Portland cement clinker and 
gypsum to improve the workability and early strength. The product is used for the 
same applications as the Portland cement described above but is preferred by 
many customers because the additives improve its performance. 
 
Holcim WallRight Cement 
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Holcim WallRight Cement is an ASTM C91 Type S Masonry Cement designed for 
block laying, plastering and finishing use. It is made by inter-grinding mineral 
additives and an air-entraining additive with Portland cement clinker during the 
finish milling operation. The resulting cement will produce smoother, more cohesive 
and more cost-effective mortars and plasters which are preferred by masons. 
 
Clinker 
 
Clinker is an intermediate product in cement production. It is produced by grinding 
and burning a proportioned mixture of limestone, shale and silica.  When clinker is 
further subjected to grinding and added with gypsum, Portland cement is produced. 
 
Ready Mix Concrete 
 
Ready mix concrete (RMX) is an engineered construction material produced by 
mixing cement, admixtures, water, coarse aggregates and fine aggregates.  It is 
produced in an RMX batching plant under controlled conditions and delivered by 
transmit mixer to a customer.  A producer can make concrete of various strength 
grades and performance characteristics by adjusting the proportions of the different 
raw materials.  The manner in which ready mix concrete is purchased, produced 
and delivered is defined by ASTM C94 Standard Specification for Ready-Mix 
Concrete. 
 
Aggregates 
 
Aggregates are granular materials of mineral compositions used for various 
construction applications. It is used with a binding medium to form Portland cement 
concrete, bituminous concrete, precast concrete, mortar, plaster and other concrete 
and asphalt applications.  It can be used alone for road bases, structural beddings, 
railroad ballast, filter beds, backfills, etc.  
 
The grading and quality conforms to the ASTM C33 Standard Specifications for 
coarse and fine aggregates. 
 
Holcim Tile Adhesive 
 
Holcim Tile Adhesive is a premium cement-based adhesive for tiles specially 
formulated for thin-bed vertical and horizontal application.  Its unique formulation 
combined with Holcim cement provides a faster, stronger adhesion, with excellent 
non-slip properties.   
 
Holcim Skim Coat 
 
Holcim Skim Coat is a cementitious plaster specially designed to smoothen vertical 
structures suitable for both indoor and outdoor use.  Skim Coat is used for 
rendering and smoothening surfaces prior to application of sealants or decorative 
paints. 
 
Holcim Concrete Waterproofing 
 
Holcim Waterproofing is a one-component cement-based waterproofing specially 
formulated using Holcim cement, high-quality polymers and chemical admixtures to 
provide superior flexible waterproofing of structures. 
 
The following table shows the breakdown of sales revenues by product line of the 
Company for the periods indicated: 
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Table 1 – Revenue by Product Line 
  Calendar Year Calendar Year Calendar Year 
  Ended Ended Ended 
(In Thousand Pesos) December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 

Cement and 
cementitious materials 

P=35,562,583 P=31,774,849 P=28,195,962 

Others 1,963,472 873,810 697,407 
    
Total P=37,526,055 P=32,648,659 P=28,893,369 
 

 (b) Contribution of Export Sales   
 

The amounts and percentages of revenue attributable to export sales, including 
breakdown per region, for the calendar years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 
2013 are as follows:  

 
Table 2 – Export Revenue 

  Calendar Year Calendar Year Calendar Year 
  Ended Ended Ended 
(In Thousand Pesos) December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013 

Total Export 
Revenues 

NIL P=25,052 P=45,767 

% to Total Revenues NIL    0.08%    0.16% 
Breakdown of Export 
Revenues per Region 
(in %) 

   

Southeast Asia    
Eastern Asia    
Oceania NIL 0.08% 0.16% 
North America   - 
Western Europe   - 
Middle East   - 
Total % to Total 
Revenues 

NIL 0.08% 0.16% 

 
 (c) Marketing and Distribution  

 

The Company’s major domestic customers are traders, wholesalers, retailers, 
contractors serving private and public projects, real-estate developers and concrete 
producers.  Notably, HPI has supplied a number of big commercial and government 
flagship projects in the entire country.   

 
With increasing domestic demand and HPI’s customer base, there was no export 
sale transaction in 2015. 

 
(d) New Product 
 
Other than aggregates produced by LHAI, the Company has not formally launched 
new products in 2015. The Company, nonetheless, continuously develops and 
seeks to innovate its product lines. 
 
(e)  Competition 
 
There are nine cement manufacturers in the Philippines, including: Holcim, 
Republic, Cemex, Taiheiyo, Northern, Eagle, Pacific, Goodfound and Mabuhay. 
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According to data from the Cement Manufacturers Association of the Philippines 
(CeMAP), these manufacturers operate a total of 17 plants all over the country. 

Among the local players, HPI has the widest market reach spanning the three main 
islands of the country with two cement manufacturing plants in Luzon, and two in 
Mindanao.  HPI also operates cement terminals in Manila, Calaca, Batangas, and 
Iloilo and a grinding plant in Mabini, Batangas, as well as warehouses in the 
different geographic markets. The Company’s principal method to be competitive is 
to gain an in-depth understanding of customer needs and create value for them 
through superior product and service offerings. 
 
HPI’s products are well regarded in the construction industry.  They are used in 
many of the major national infrastructure projects.  The four HPI cement plants are 
certified to meet the ISO 9002 (Quality Management), ISO 14001 (Environmental 
Management) and OH&S 18001 (Occupational Health and Safety Management) 
standards.    

 
(f) Sources and Availability of Raw Materials and Supplies  

 
Below is a summary of the existing Mineral Production Sharing Agreement (MPSA) 
entered into by HPI and its subsidiaries with the Republic of the Philippines 
represented by the Department of Environment and Natural Resources (DENR) 
allowing the quarrying of raw materials required for cement production.  All of these 
MPSAs have been assigned to HMDC and/or its subsidiary, HRDC. As of 
December 31, 2015, a majority of the applications for transfer of said MPSAs have 
been approved by the DENR.  

 
La Union Plant 

  
The sources of limestone are MPSA-238-2007-I, MPSA 236-2007-I and MPSA 043-
1995-I, and silica are MPSAs 042-1995-I and 295-2009-I located in the provinces of 
La Union and Pangasinan. The plant also sources silica from Ayungon, Negros 
Oriental. 

 
Bulacan Plant 

  
Bulacan plant’s limestone sources are located in Norzagaray and Doña Remedios 
Trinidad, Bulacan, covered by MPSA 140-1999-III and MPSA 027-1994-III. The 
silica requirements of the plant are sourced from third-party suppliers.  
 
Davao Plant 
  
Davao Plant’s limestone requirement is sourced from MPSAs 080-97-XI, 274-2008-
XI and 187-2002-XI. Silica requirement of the plant is sourced from Ayungon, 
Negros Oriental.   
 
Lugait Plant 
  
The shale and limestone requirement of Lugait Plant are sourced from quarries 
covered by MPSA 039-96-X located in Barangay Poblacion, Lugait, Misamis 
Oriental, MPSA No. 047-96-X situated in Barangay Lower Talacogon, Lugait and 
Dalipuga, Iligan City, and MPSA 281-2009-X located in Barangay Poblacion, Lugait 
and Barangay Dalipuga, Iligan City. The silica requirement of the plant is also 
sourced from Ayungon, Negros Oriental. 
  
Others 
  
HMDC is the holder of MPSA 108-98 IV located in Antipolo, Rizal, with known 
aggregates resources. QLI, a subsidiary of HMDC, is the holder of MPSA No. 137-
99-IV. 
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Energy Requirement  
 
Being an energy-intensive process, cement production requires a reliable and 
competitively priced power supply for uninterrupted and cost-effective production. 

 
The Bulacan Plant’s peak demand is currently at 35 megawatts (“MW”) while La 
Union plant’s peak demand is currently at 15 MW. On August 12, 2011, a 15-year 
Energy Supply Agreement (ESA) was signed with TA Oil on for the supply of both 
Bulacan Line 2 and La Union Plants commencing in 2014. In the new ESA, 
electricity supply will be coming from the 135 MW Puting Bato coal-fired power  
plant in Calaca, Batangas owned by South Luzon Thermal Energy Corporation, a 
joint venture company of TA Oil and Ayala’s AC Energy Holdings.  Included in the 
agreement is the provision of back-up supply from the diesel power plants in 
Bulacan (TA Power) and in Bacnotan (CIP/TA Oil). 

In essence, power supply for the Company’s Bulacan and La Union Plants is 
assured over a long-term period notwithstanding the uncertainties of how the Luzon 
Grid supply situation will move.  Electricity fee is structured according to time-of-use 
(TOU) rate with provisions for rate increases based on fuel purchased for the power 
plant. 

The Davao Plant’s total power requirement is 22 MW.  The plant primarily sourced 
its electricity from the National Power Corporation (NPC) through the Mindanao 
Grid which generates a substantial portion of its power through hydroelectric power 
plants.  Effective September 26, 2013, Davao Plant became a “captive customer” of 
Davao Light and Power Company, the Distribution Utility (DU) which holds the 
franchise for power distribution in the area pursuant to Energy Regulatory 
Commission Resolution No. 27, Series of 2010. 

 
The Lugait Plant’s total power requirement is 33 MW for both lines or 27 MW with 
Line 2 only. After the expiration of the Power Supply Agreement with the National 
Power Corporation (NPC) on December 25, 2012, Misamis I Oriental Electric 
Cooperative (Moresco I) took over as the power supplier of Lugait Plant pursuant to 
Energy Regulatory Commission Resolution No. 27, Series of 2010. Currently, only 
Line 2 is operating.   

 
Since grid supply in Mindanao is currently deficient resulting from El Nino, reduced 
hydro capacities, privatization of NPC assets,  new coal-fired power plants coming 
on line in 2016, back-up power supply from private generators for Davao and Lugait 
has been put in place to augment power supply during curtailment periods.   

 
Mabini Grinding Plant, being a "Contestable Customer" signed a 10-year Power 
Supply Agreement with TA Oil which started last June 26, 2014. 
 
Coal and Fuel Requirements 
 
HPI uses coal for heating the Company's kilns in La Union, Bulacan, Lugait and 
Davao.  

 
HPI’s Indonesian coal requirements are currently covered by yearly supply 
contracts. These contracts form part of the Asia Pacific (APAC) volume pooling 
strategy of the LafargeHolcim Global/Regional Category Management Team in 
which HPI is an active member. The said strategy helped APAC operating 
companies to leverage in both product and freight resulting in more competitive 
rates.  Spot purchases shall remain as an option to have a healthy balance of 
supply reliability and market competitive prices.  

 
For local coal requirements, the Company’s five-year contract with Semirara 
expired December 31, 2014.  Negotiations were concluded for a one-year fixed 
price contract with Semirara for 2015. Negotiations are ongoing for the 2016 supply 
in coordination with LafargeHolcim Energy Solutions. 
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The Company also has a five-year supply contract with Petron Corporation, 
effective July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2015, to cover its bunker and diesel fuel 
requirements.  This was extended to October 31, 2015 until the bidding was 
finalized. Supply of bunker and diesel has been awarded to SL Harbor and Petron, 
respectively, and is valid from November 1, 2015 to October 31, 2017.  

 
The Company has not experienced any disruption in its solid and liquid fuel supply. 

 
(g) Dependence on a Single or a Few Customers 

 
The Company employs a multi-level distribution strategy in serving the market. This 
covers wholesaler and retailer intermediaries, traders, ready mix companies, 
concrete products manufacturers, international and local contractors, and real-
estate developers. At the same time, HPI supports numerous large- and medium-
scale government infrastructure projects. The aim is for the business not to be 
dependent on a single or a few customers but rather achieve a well-balanced 
customer portfolio. The loss of one or more customers will have no material 
adverse effect on the Company and its subsidiaries taken as a whole. 
 
(h) Related Party Transactions 
 
Please see Note 25 – Related Party Transactions to the Consolidated Financial 
Statements for details. 
 
(i)   Trademarks, Licenses, Concessions, Labor Contracts 
 
As discussed in Item (f) above, HPI and/or HMDC and its relevant subsidiaries hold 
MPSAs that grant exclusive rights to the exploration, development and commercial 
use of certain limestone, shale and other mineral deposits existing within contracted 
areas based on an agreed revenue-sharing arrangement with the government. All 
MPSAs have been assigned to HMDC and/or its subsidiary, HRDC.  As of 
December 31, 2015, a majority of the applications for transfer of said MPSAs have 
been approved by the DENR.  
 
On labor contracts, please see the discussion on employees under Item m.   

 
The Philippine Intellectual Property Office has issued a Notice of Allowance for the 
trademark registration of HSSI for its Hubb logo.  
 
(j) Governmental Approval of Principal Products 
 
The Bureau of Product Standards (BPS) granted HPI the license to use the 
Philippine Standard Quality Certification Mark for its principal products.  The license 
took effect from date of issue and continues to be in full force unless otherwise 
revoked or cancelled by the BPS.    
 
All other necessary licenses and permits required for the continuous production and 
sale of HPI products have been secured by the Company, including licenses that 
have to be renewed periodically.   
  
(k) Research and Development  

 
The Company is engaged in research and development for improving the 
production process used in its plants and for improving the quality and strength of 
its products. The Company spent a total of P=80.5 million research and development 
costs in last three years as follows: 

 



26 
 

Table 3 – Research and Development Costs 
  Amount Percentage   

Period Covered (‘000 Pesos) to Revenues 
CY ended December 31, 2015 P=27,578 0.07% 
CY ended December 31, 2014 29,023 0.09% 
CY ended December 31, 2013 23,894 0.08% 

Total P=80,495  
 

(l)   Costs and Effects of Compliance with Environmental Laws 
 

In support of LafargeHolcim Group initiatives on Sustainable Environmental 
Performance, HPI is committed to comply with environmental regulations both 
locally and internationally. 
 
Cement dust emission is targeted at lower emission levels as compared to the 
Philippine Clean Air Act dust emission limit of 150 mg/ Nm3. The Company 
maintains and operates modern electrostatic precipitators, bag houses, multi-
cyclone and bag filters to mitigate dust emissions. With these modern dust control 
systems in place, HPI’s cement plants keep dust emission levels below the 
prescribed government standards. 
 
Installing and operating the Continuous Emission Monitoring System (CEMS) in all 
four plants ensures real time monitoring of the overall performance of the plants. 
Information provided by this state-of-the-art system which includes monitoring of 
NOx and SO2 emissions confirms that all HPI plants are compliant with the existing 
government standards.  
 
The Company engages a third party service provider, accredited by the 
Environmental Management Bureau (EMB), to conduct periodic source emission 
testing for dust, gaseous emissions, heavy metals and Dioxin/Furan (DF). In 
addition, Relative Accuracy Test Audit (RATA) and Cylinder Gas Audit (CGA) are 
regularly conducted to ensure data reliability of the installed CEMS. 
 

Quarry areas, now assigned to HMDC and/or HRDC, undergo progressive 
rehabilitation activities as an integral component of the Annual Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Program (AEPEP). As the first Philippine company to 
have a DENR-approved Final Mine Rehabilitation and Decommissioning Plan, all 
plants are compliant not only with the local regulations but also with LafargeHolcim 
Group directives. The progressive rehabilitation plans of HMDC and HRDC are not 
limited to active quarry areas; the plan also includes degraded areas covered by 
MPSA.   
  
The Company also complies with DENR regulations on environmental funding. 
Each plant has established depository accounts called Mine Rehabilitation Funds; 
maintained in two forms namely Rehabilitation Cash Fund (RCF) and Monitoring 
Trust Fund (MTF). The RCF is at least P=5 million earmarked for rehabilitation 
programs approved by the DENR; while the MTF is at least P=150,000 to serve as 
the quarterly operating budget for the multipartite monitoring team.   

 
With HPI’s emission monitoring system, HMDC and HRDC’s quarry rehabilitation 
plans, and strict compliance with the reportorial requirement on actual performance 
validated by regular quarterly monitoring by multi-stakeholders and government 
audit, the Company is continuously compliant with Philippine regulations. 

 (m) Employees  
 

As of December 31, 2015, HPI and subsidiaries have a total of 11,662 officers and 
regular employees broken down as follows: 
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Table 4 – Officers and Employees 
 
Location 

 
HPI 

 
Subsidiaries 

 
TOTAL 

Head Office* 472 195 667 
Bulacan Plant 271  271 
La Union Plant 226  226 
Davao Plant 264  264 
Lugait Plant 4 174 178 
Calumpit 45  45 
Calaca 11  11 

Total 1,293 369 1,662 

  * Includes ECLI, RMX, HSSI and Mabini plants 
 

The Company does not expect a significant increase in the number of employees in 
the next 12 months.  
 
HPI cement plant employees are unionized and all labor unions have a Collective 
Bargaining Agreement (CBA) signed with the Company.  The rank and file 
employees of HPI’s bag plant and subsidiary ECLI have also organized their 
respective unions. The Company maintains a positive relationship with its workers 
by implementing policies that are fully cognizant of the workers’ rights and needs 
through open communication and adherence to agreed grievance procedures.   
 
The following table shows the respective labor unions of HPI and its subsidiaries 
and the expiry dates of their CBAs: 

 
Table 5 – Labor Unions 

Location of Cement Plant Labor Union CBA Expiry Date 
Norzagaray, Bulacan Holcim Philippines Employees 

Association (HPEA formerly Hi 
Cement Worker's Union) 
 
UCC Bulacan Supervisory 
Employees Union  
 

December 31, 2015 
(negotiation ongoing as of 
the date of this report) 
 
 
February 28, 2019 

Bacnotan, La Union La Union Cement Workers 
Union  
 
 
Holcim La Union Supervisory 
Employees Union  

March 31, 2017 
 
 
March 31, 2019 
 
 

Davao City Davao Holcim Employees 
Workers Union (DAHEWU 
formerly Southern Phil. 
Federation of Labor) 
 
Holcim Davao Supervisory 
Independent Union  

March 31, 2015 – 
(negotiation ongoing as of 
the date of this report) 
 
March 31, 2020 

Lugait, Misamis Oriental Holcim Lugait Employees Labor 
Union (HOLELU, All Workers 
Trade Union All AWATU) 
 
Holcim Lugait Supervisors 
Independent Union 

July 31, 2016 
 
 
 
March 31, 2019 

Calumpit, Bulacan Holcim Paper Bag Plant 
Employees Association – FFW 
Chapter 

December 31, 2018 
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Location of Cement Plant Labor Union CBA Expiry Date 
Quezon City Excel Concrete Logistics, 

Incorporated Workers Union – 
National Union of Building and 
Construction Workers 

March 31, 2018 

  
(n)   Risk Factor   
 
Political and Economic Factors  

The Company and its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the manufacture of 
clinker and cement in the Philippines. Generally, cement sales are highly 
dependent on the economic and political conditions in the country. 

One of the principal factors that may materially affect financial performance is the 
level of construction activity in the public and private sectors.  Public sector 
construction activity has always been a significant part of cement demand.  
However, government spending on construction-related activities (e.g., 
infrastructure and housing) is dependent on various factors: budgetary constraints, 
political considerations and the stage of economic development in the country. 

On the other hand, private sector spending is primarily driven by investors’ 
confidence in the country, which in turn, is dependent on the country’s economic 
and political conditions.  Any perceived political instability or lower-than-expected 
economic growth could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial 
performance. 

Availability of Stable Power Supply 

Since cement manufacturing is an energy-intensive process, adequate power is 
vital for HPI’s continuous operations.  Curtailment of power supply will materially 
affect the operation of HPI plant operations. 

La Union and Bulacan Plants source their total power requirements from the Luzon 
Grid.  An assessment of the Luzon market indicates that there will be adequate 
supply in the area until 2014 assuming all power plants are operating at their 
capabilities and committed capacity additions are realized. The Company signed a 
15-year Energy Supply Agreement on August 12, 2011 with TA Oil for both plants 
starting 2014.  The newly commissioned CIP Diesel Power Plant owned by TA Oil 
will provide back-up to La Union Plant in case of grid failures, the arrangement of 
which was structured after that of Bulacan’s. 

 
Davao and Lugait Plants’ power requirements are now supplied by the distribution 
utility of their respective franchise area pursuant to Energy Regulatory Commission 
Resolution No. 27, Series of 2010. Mindanao’s supply mostly comes from 
hydroelectric power plants comprising approximately 40% of the total generation 
capability. With the increasing demand and dwindling hydropower generation 
capacity, power curtailment is expected to persist until the completion and 
operations of various coal-fired power plants starting 2016. 

 
The shift from hydropower to coal-fired power plants to cover baseload 
requirements is expected to generally result in increased electricity cost. For its 
current needs, the Company has entered into contingency arrangements with 
private generators to provide back-up power in case of forced power curtailment. 

 
The Company is currently evaluating all available options for a reliable and 
sustainable power supply portfolio for its Mindanao plants. 

 
Compliance with Financial Covenants   
 
The Company’s long-term loan agreements, if any, provide certain restrictions and 
requirements with respect to, among others, maintenance of financial ratios, 
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incurrence of new long-term debt, investment in any corporation or person, material 
changes in character of the Company’s business, material change in ownership or 
control of the Company, disposal of assets and properties, and merger or 
consolidation with other parties without prior creditors’ consent. 

 
HPI complied with all the financial ratios requirement of its loan covenants as of 
December 31, 2011.  As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company has no 
outstanding long-term loans. 

 
Dependence on Key Facilities 

 
Substantially all of HPI’s income has been, and will be derived from the sale of 
products manufactured at its production facilities in Luzon and Mindanao. Any 
prolonged breakdown of, or significant damage to, the Company’s production 
facilities or quarries could have an adverse effect on the results of its operations. 
HPI maintains comprehensive property and casualty insurance policies covering its 
production facilities and key assets under an Industrial All-Risk policy. However, 
there can be no assurance that the proceeds from HPI’s insurance claims would be 
sufficient to compensate the Company for all the effects of possible loss and/or 
damage. Notwithstanding that, the Company has appropriate processes and 
measures in place to further mitigate the risk of any possible loss or damage. 
 
Impact of the Exchange Rate Fluctuations 
 
The Philippine Peso was generally stable during the year.  From the exchange rate 
of P=44.72 against the US Dollar as of December 31, 2014, it closed at P=47.17 as of 
December 31, 2015.  The depreciation of the peso increases cost of production 
inputs such as imported fuel and supplies but may result in an increase in the peso 
value of its export revenues.  Conversely, a significant appreciation of the peso will 
reduce production costs but will also reduce revenues from export sales.   

  
Environmental and Regulatory Matters  
 
Cement manufacturing involves heavy use of fossil fuel (coal and bunker fuel) and 
electric power, and possible emission of dust in the atmosphere, factors that may 
adversely affect the environment. 

HPI conforms with rules and regulations defined under the following: The Philippine 
EIS System (PD 1586), The Philippine Mining Act of 1995 (RA 7942), The 
Philippine Clean Air Act 1999 (RA 8749), Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004 (RA 
9275), Ecological Solid Waste Management Act of 2000 (RA 9003), and Toxic 
Substances & Hazardous & Nuclear Waste Control Act of 1990 (RA 6969). Other 
Applicable Laws & Regulations are also identified in the Company’s Integrated 
Management System Manual. 

 
In a group-wide program, the Company decided to reduce dust emissions below 
the prescribed 150 mg/ Nm3 level that the government allows cement plants to emit 
under the Philippine Clean Air Act (RA 8749).  The Company maintains and 
operates modern electrostatic precipitators, bag houses, multi-cyclone and bag 
filters for mitigating the dust coming from its plants’ pre-heater towers, kilns and 
cement mill grinding systems.  With these modern dust control systems in place, 
HPI’s cement plants kept dust emission levels below the prescribed government 
standard.  Moreover in 2003, the Company installed a state-of-the-art Continuous 
Emission Monitoring System (CEMS) in all its four plants.  The system provides all 
information required to measure the Company’s overall environmental performance 
and has confirmed that HPI’s plants are compliant with the existing government 
standards. 

Based on the assessment made on the existing facilities, the Company believes it 
complies with the provisions of the Clean Air Act and its implementing rules and 
regulations. 
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Under the Philippine Environmental Impact Assessment law, quarrying, an activity 
required for the supply of raw materials for cement production, is classified as an 
Environmentally Critical Project. As such, it is subject to all applicable local 
environmental regulations.  This includes the environmental impact assessments 
and the consequent environmental management programs mandated under the 
Philippine Clean Air Act, the Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC), and the 
complementary environmental provisions of the Mining Act’s implementing rules 
and regulations.  The status of compliance on the conditions stated in the ECC is 
regularly reported to DENR through the submission of Self-Monitoring Reports 
(SMR), Compliance Monitoring Reports (CMR), and Compliance Monitoring and 
Verification Reports (CMVR). 

  
For 2015, before the approval of the transfers of the MPSAs to HMDC and HRDC, 
HPI’s four plants continued to be recognized by the relevant national government 
agencies for its environmental programs and natural resource stewardship. The 
Company’s La Union Plant bagged the Platinum award in the Presidential Mineral 
Industry Environmental Award (PMIEA) for the Quarry Category while the Davao 
Plant and LHAI’s aggregate plant won the Titanium PMIEA. 

 
Lugait Plant was also recognized with the Best Mining Forest Program under Non-
Metallic Category and declared as winner with the La Union and Davao Plants 
adjudged as 2nd and 3rd runner-up, respectively.  

 
LHAI’s aggregates plant was also declared runner-up for the Safest Quarry 
Operations Award for 2015.  

 
Executive Order (EO) 79 

 
On July 6, 2012, the Philippine Government issued EO 79, Institutionalizing and 
Implementing Reforms in the Philippine Mining Sector. Providing Policies and 
Guidelines to Ensure Environmental Protection and Responsible Mining in the 
Utilization of Mineral Resources also known as the Revised Mining Act, EO 79 
provides for the following, among others: 
 
§ restriction of applications of mineral contracts an agreements in critical areas and 

pending new legislation; 
§ review of performance of existing mining operation and cleansing of non-moving 

mining rights holders; 
§ review of existing mining contracts and agreements for possible renegotiation of 

terms and conditions; 
§ establishment of mineral reservations and opening areas of mining through 

competitive public bidding; 
§ disposition of abandoned ores and valuable metals in mine wastes and mill 

tailings; and, 
§ creation of the Mining Industry Coordinating Council with powers and functions 

granted by this EO. 
 

On October 8, 2012, the DENR published Administrative Order No. 2012-07-A 
containing guidance for the implementation of EO 79. 
 
Management continuously monitors the implementation and impact of EO 79 on the 
industry in general. 

 
 
Item 2  Properties  
 
The Company’s major items of property, plant and equipment are located in Norzagaray, 
Bulacan; Bacnotan, La Union; Bo. Ilang, Davao City; Lugait, Misamis Oriental; Mabini, 
Batangas; Calaca, Batangas; and Manila.  The table shows the consolidated properties of 
HPI as of December 31, 2015 compared to December 31, 2014. 
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Table 6 – Plant, Property and Equipment (Consolidated) 

 
(In Thousand Pesos) 

December 31, 
2015 

December 31, 
2014 

Land and land improvements P=469,007 P=1,863,433 
Machinery and equipment 22,636,586 21,231,883 
Buildings and installations 12,321,982 12,134,485 
Furniture, vehicles and tools 1,060,142 1,206,519 
Construction in progress 2,499,329 2,674,532 

 38,987,046 39,110,852 
Less:  Accumulated depreciation, depletion   
   and allowance for impairment loss 22,968,398 21,506,416 
           Total      P=16,018,648 P=17,604,436 

 
In connection with the principal properties of the Company, there are no material existing 
mortgages, liens or encumbrances nor limitations in the usage or ownership.  

 
There are no imminent acquisitions of property of significant amount that cannot be 
funded by the Company’s working capital and debt. 
 
The table below summarizes the significant lease agreements entered into by the 
Company as a lessee. 
 
Description Start Date Expiration Date 2015 Lease 

Payments 
(in ‘000) 

Renewal Options 

 HO Office  01.12.2008 30.11.2018 Php38,153  The lease may be renewed upon 
the written agreement and under 
such terms and conditions as 
maybe acceptable to both 
parties. 

Betonval lot  27.08.2008 26.08.2018 6,564  Renewable as may be mutually 
agreed by the parties 

Industrial 
Warehouse 

16.01.2013 15.01.2018 4,167  The contract may be renewed or 
extended upon the mutual 
agreement of the Parties.  

 
Item 3  Legal Proceedings   
  
The Company is either a defendant or plaintiff in several civil, criminal and labor cases 
primarily involving collection and claims for damages.  Based on the representation of 
management and the opinion of the Company’s external legal counsels, the resolution of 
such cases will not result in any significant liability or loss of assets. 
  
Pending material legal proceedings involving the Company are described in Annex A to 
the Information Statement. 
 
Item 4 Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  
   
Except for the matters taken up during the last annual meeting of the stockholders 
covered by the Company’s SEC Form 20-IS report, no matter was submitted to a vote of 
security holders through solicitation of proxies or otherwise during the calendar year 
covered by this report. 
 
V. COMPANY’S DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 
Please refer to the Information Statement for the discussion of the identity of each of the 
Company’s Board of Directors and Executive Officers including their principal occupation 
or employment, name and principal business of any organization by which such persons 
are employed. 
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VI.  MARKET FOR ISSUER’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  
 
(1) Market Information 
 
HPI common shares are listed at the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE).  The high and low 
market prices of HPI shares for each quarter of calendar year 2015, and that of the past 
two calendar years, as reported by the PSE, are shown below:  
 

Table 7 – Market Prices of HPI Shares 
 

Quarter Period CY 2015 CY 2014 CY 2013 
 High Low High Low High Low 

January – March 14.50 14.50 13.24 12.80 13.72 13.70 
April – June 13.88 13.02 13.30 13.26 14.00 13.50 
July – September 13.74 12.90 14.10 14.00 12.70 12.70 
October – December 14.24 14.24 14.98 14.82 15.50 15.20 

 Source:  Philippine Stock Exchange, Inc. 
 
As of April 18, 2016, the closing price of the Company’s common shares at the PSE is     
P=13.90 per share.  
  
(2) Stockholders 
 
As of April 18, 2016, HPI has 6,452,099,144 shares outstanding held by 5,505 
stockholders.  The list of the top twenty stockholders of the Company as recorded by the 
Stock Transfer Service, Inc., the Company’s stock transfer agent, is as follows: 
 

Table 8 – Top Twenty (20) Stockholders 
 
Rank Name Citizenship Shares % 

1 Union Cement Holdings Corporation Filipino 3,906,425,509 60.55% 

2 B. V. Holderfin Dutch 1,168,450,997 18.11% 

3 Sumitomo Osaka Cement Co., Ltd. Japanese 594,952,725 9.22% 

4 Cemco Holdings, Inc. Filipino 456,689,560 7.08% 

5 PCD Nominee Corp. (Non-Filipino) Foreign 174,507,493 2.70% 

6 PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino) Filipino 114,582,933 1.78% 

7 Federal Homes, Inc. Filipino 4,054,054 0.06% 

8 Antonio M. Dumaliang and/or 
Rosalinda S. Dumaliang Filipino 922,363 0.01% 

9 Leoncio Tiu Filipino 705,000 0.01% 

10 Kakugara Akihiko Japanese 559,580 0.01% 

11 Luis Co Chi Kiat Filipino 511,242 0.01% 

12 Joaquin Q. Tan Filipino 380,000 0.01% 

13 Luis Rolando Garcia Fadrigo Filipino 294,065 0.00% 

14 American Wire & Cable Co., Inc. Filipino 290,993 0.00% 
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Rank Name Citizenship Shares % 
15 Cipriano Villanueva Amando Filipino 282,137 0.00% 

16 Corazon V. Dominguez Filipino 221,081 0.00% 

17 University of Santo Tomas Filipino 190,750 0.00% 

18 Ramon C. Chan Filipino 189,189 0.00% 

19 Francis l. Escaler Filipino 186,935 0.00% 

20 Isabela Cultural Corporation Filipino 156,439 0.00% 

  
Total 6,424,553,045 99.57% 

 
(3) Dividends  
 
The Company is authorized to pay cash or stock dividends, or a combination thereof, 
subject to approval by the Company’s Board of Directors and/or its shareholders.  
Dividends paid in the form of additional shares are subject to approval by the Company’s 
Board of Directors, the SEC and the stockholders of at least two thirds of the outstanding 
shares of the Company.  Holders of outstanding shares on a dividend record date for such 
shares will be entitled to the full dividend declared without regard to any subsequent 
transfer of shares.  

 
Other than the provisions in the loan covenants, there are no other limitations for the 
Company to declare dividends to its common stock. 

Cash dividends were declared in for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 
as follows: 
 

  2015 2014 2013 
Cash Dividend Per Share (PhP) P=0.82 P=0.70 P=0.55 
Amount Declared (PhP) P=5.3 billion P=4.5 billion P=3.5 billion 
Declaration Date 18-May-15 16-May-14 23-May-13 
Record Date 15-June-15 13-June-14 21-June-13 

 
(4) Sales of Unregistered Securities Within the Last Three (3) Years 
 
There are no other securities sold for cash by the Company within the last three years that 
were not registered under the Securities Regulation Code (SRC).  

 
VII. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
 
(a) Evaluation System To Measure Compliance with Manual of Corporate Governance 

 
The Company evaluates compliance with its Revised Manual of Good Corporate 
Governance (the “Manual”) using the Annual Corporate Governance Report, as mandated 
by the rules of the SEC, and the Corporate Governance Disclosure Survey as mandated 
by the Philippine Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Guidelines. 

 
(b) Measures Being Undertaken to Fully Comply with Leading Practices on Good 

Corporate Governance 
 
The Company exerts its best efforts to comply with the provisions of its Manual. The 
following steps have been undertaken to ensure leading practices on good governance 
are observed: 
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1. The attendance of each director in the scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors 

is monitored and recorded; 
 
2. The Audit Committee reviewed all financial reports before these are endorsed to the 

Board of Directors and/or submitted to the pertinent offices and agencies; 
 
3. The Audit Committee approved the Internal Audit Plans for 2015 before these were 

implemented; 
 
4. The Audit Committee approved and continuously monitors the Company’s internal 

control system, covering the various departments/functions. 
 

(c) Plan to Improve Corporate Governance 
 
The Company shall continue to exert its best efforts to comply with the provisions 
embodied in its Manual.. It shall also endeavor to address the remaining deviations from 
said Manual. The Company will regularly review leading practices on good corporate 
governance as a guide to improving its Manual. 
 
 
THE ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015 (SEC FORM 
17-A) WILL BE AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST OF STOCKHOLDERS.  YOUR 
REQUEST MAY BE SENT DIRECTLY TO THE OFFICE OF THE CORPORATE 
SECRETARY, AT THE 7TH FLOOR VENICE CORPORATE CENTER, 8 TURIN ST., 
MCKINLEY TOWN CENTER, FORT BONIFACIO, TAGUIG CITY, PHILIPPINES AND A 
COPY WILL BE SENT TO YOU, FREE OF CHARGE. 
 





1 
 

PENDING MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS (Parent) 
 

1. UCC v. R.M.R. Baldemor Cargo Mover Co. 
(Makati RTC Branch 139 - Civil Case No. 01-722)  

This case involves money claims against a cargo forwarder due to short delivery of polyslings. 
In July 2010, the RTC ordered RMR to pay UCC Php1.3Million.  
 

2. Holcim Philippines, Inc. V. Jocelyn Suavillo  
(Taguig City Prosecutor's Office — IS No. XV-16-INV-09H-00730)  

This is a criminal complaint for estafa, falsification and qualified theft filed against a former 
employee. The City Prosecutor dismissed the complaint for lack of probable cause. Holcim's 
petition for review before the Department of Justice is still pending.  
 

3. Holcim Philippines, Inc. V. Jocelyn Suavillo and Rhona M. Valenzuela 
(RTC Makati Branch 133; Makati City Prosecutor's Office - IS No. XV-05-INV-09K-03371)  

This is a criminal case for 75 counts of estafa filed against former employees. Holcim entered 
into a compromise agreement with Rhona Valenzuela and Joseph San Juan and desisted 
from further pursuing the cases against them. The Court ordered the dismissal of the cases 
against them. The case against Jocelyn Suavillo is archived.  
 

4.  Holcim Philippines, Inc. v. Jocelyn Suavillo, Rhona M. Valenzuela and Joseph R. San 
Juan (Makati MTC, Branch 63, Crim. Case No. 363198)  

 
This is a criminal complaint for estafa filed against former employees. In September 2013, the 
Court ordered the dismissal of the case as to Rhona Valenzuela and Joseph San Juan 
following a compromise agreement between them and Holcim. The case is archived as to 
Jocelyn Suavillo.  
 

5.  Holcim Philippines, inc. v. Jocelyn Suavillo, Rhona M. Valenzuela and Joseph R. San 
Juan (Taguig City Prosecutor's Office-IS No. XV016-INV-09L-0168; RTC Taguig Br. 271)  

 
This is a criminal complaint for 4 counts of estafa filed against former employees. In view of 
Holdalls compromise agreement with Joseph San Juan and Rhona Valenzuela, the court 
provisionally dismissed the case insofar as they are concerned. The case is archived as to 
Jocelyn Suavillo.  
 

6.  Holcim v. Sps. Hermenigildo and Norma de la Cruz, and Sps. Joseph and Elizabeth 
Losloso (RTC Bayombong, Nueva Vizcaya)  

 
Collection case for unpaid products. Trial is on-going. 
 

7.  In the Matter of an Arbitration under the UNCITRAL Rules between PT Asia Pacific 
Mining Resources (Indonesia), Madison Energy PTE Ltd (Sfngapore) and Holcim 
Philippines, Inc. (Singapore International Arbitration Centre) 

 
PT Asia Pacific Mining Resources (APMR) and Madison Energy PTE Ltd submitted for 
arbitration Holcim's cancellation of the coal supply agreement with APMR. The arbitration 
tribunal decided in favor of one of the claimants and the case has been declared closed and 
terminated.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  
 

2 

TAX CASES (Parent) 

1. The Company received a final assessment notice from the Bureau of Internal revenue (BIR) 
in September 2015 for alleged deficiency income tax, value added tax, expanded withholding 
tax, final withholding tax and documentary stamp tax for the taxable year 2008 in the 
aggregate amount of Php720 million, inclusive of penalties and interest. The Company filed 
its protest in October and December 2015.   

 
2. The Company received a final assessment notice from the BIR for alleged deficiency final 

withholding taxes for the taxable year 2010 amounting to Php150.9 million, inclusive of 
penalties and interest. The assessment was issued as a result of the denial of the Company’s 
application for tax treaty relief. The Company filed its protest in July 2013. The Company’s 
protest remains pending with the BIR. 

 
3. In December 2012, the Company received an assessment from the Province of Bulacan for 

deficiency real property taxes for its Bulacan Plant Line 2 machinery and equipment for the 
period from January 2011 to December 2012. The Company filed an appeal with the Local 
Board of Assessment Appeals (LBAA) of Malolos, Bulacan in January 2013. During the 
pendency of the appeal with the LBAA, Bulacan and the Municipality of Norzagaray issued 
two additional assessments covering the same Line 2 machinery and equipment for periods 
covering January 2011 until the third quarter of 2013, inclusive of interest. The Company filed 
supplemental appeals with the LBAA in respect of said additional assessments, and said 
appeals remain pending with the LBAA. 

 
4. In December 2014, the Bulacan Provincial Treasurer issued Orders of Payment, which 

assessed deficiency real property taxes and interest on: lands and buildings located at the 
Company’s Bulacan Plant in the amount of Php11.7 million for the period Q4 2013 until Q4 
2014; and machines and equipment found at the same plant in the amount of Php108 million 
for the period beginning 2011 Q1 2014. The Company paid the assessed amounts under 
protest in December 2014 and filed the corresponding protest. Following the Provincial 
Treasurer’s inaction on the protests, the Company filed its appeals with the LBAA. The 
Company’s appeals remain pending with the LBAA. 

 
5. In February 2014, the Company received a Notice of Assessment of Business Tax issued by 

the Norzagaray Municipal Treasurer for alleged deficiency local business taxes, surcharges, 
and interest in the aggregate amount of Php58.5 million. In June 2014, the Company filed a 
complaint with the Regional Trial Court of Malolos, Bulacan for the cancellation of the 
assessment notice. The complaint remains pending with the court.  

 
6. In October 2015, the Company was assessed for deficiency local business taxes, surcharges, 

and interest in the aggregate amount of Php118.3 million covering the taxable years 2012 to 
2015. In December 2015, the Company filed its protest with the Norzagaray Municipal 
Treasurer. Given the inaction over the Company’s protest, the Company filed a complaint for 
the cancellation of the tax assessment with the Regional Trial Court of Malolos, Bulacan. 

 
TAX CASES (Subsidiaries) 

 
7. HPMC received a final assessment notice from the BIR in June 2014 for alleged deficiency 

income tax, value-added tax expanded withholding tax and documentary stamp tax covering 
the taxable year 2008 in the aggregate amount of Php283.8 Mio inclusive of penalties and 
interest. HPMC filed its protest letter in July 2014. HPMC’s protest remains pending with the 
BIR. 

 
8. CACI received a final assessment notice from the BIR in December 2014 for alleged 

deficiency income tax and value-added tax covering the taxable year 2011 in the amount of 
Php2.5 Mio inclusive of penalties and interest. CACI filed its protest letter in January 2015. 

 
9. MGMC has an ongoing tax audit for national taxes in 2012. The BIR has not made any 

determination of deficiency taxes. 











































































































































































































MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE STOCKHOLDERS

OF

HOLCIM PHILIPPINES, INC.

Ballroom 2, 2nd Level, Fairmont Makati
1 Raffles Drive, Makati Avenue, 1224 Makati City 

May 18, 2015 at 10:00 a.m.
 
________________________________________________________________________________
 
 
I.  CALL TO ORDER 
 

The  meeting  was  called  to  order  and  presided  over  the  same  by  the  Chairman,         
Mr. Tomas I. Alcantara. 

  

II.  PROOF OF NOTICE OF MEETING AND PRESENCE OF A QUORUM 
 

Proof of notices was certified by Ms. Kristine N.L. Evangelista, Corporate Secretary. 
She  further  certified  that notices  for  the Annual Stockholders Meeting were sent out  to all 
stockholders of record as of April 18, 2015, the date fixed by the Board of Directors for the 
determination  of  stockholders  entitled  to  notice  of,  and  to  vote  at  the meeting.  There  are 
represented in person or by proxy, stockholders owning 5,584,596,053 shares representing 
86.55% of the total issued and outstanding shares of the Company, thus, there is a quorum. 
The  Secretary  also  certified  that  the  Chairman  is  holding  votes  for  5,584,408,166  shares 
representing 86.55% of the total issued and outstanding shares of the Company. 

 

III.  APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES OF PREVIOUS STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETING 
 

Upon  motion  duly  made  and  seconded,  the  minutes  of  the  previous  meeting  of 
shareholders held on May 16, 2014 were unanimously approved. 

  

IV.  APPROVAL OF ANNUAL REPORT AND THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF 
THE CORPORATION AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2014 

 
The  Chief  Executive  Officer,  Mr.  Eduardo  A.  Sahagun,  presented  the  report  on 

Company’s operations and highlights of the audited financial statements for the year 2014. 
 

Upon motion made and duly seconded, the stockholders unanimously approved the 
annual  report  and  the  audited  financial  statements  of  the  Company  as  of  December  31, 
2014. 

  
V.  APPROVAL AND RATIFICATION OF ALL ACTS,  INVESTMENTS AND RESOLUTIONS 

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT 
 

Upon  motion  duly  made  and  seconded,  all  acts,  contracts,  investments  and 
resolutions  and  actions  by  the  Board  of  Directors  and management  from  the  last  annual 
meeting were unanimously approved, confirmed and ratified. 

VI.  ELECTION OF DIRECTORS 
 

The Chairman asked the Secretary to read the names of the persons nominated as 
directors of the Company. The Secretary then proceeded to read the names of the following 
persons who were nominated in accordance with the provisions of the By­Laws: 
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1.   Tomas I. Alcantara 
2.   Ian S. Thackwray 
3.   Eduardo A. Sahagun
4.   Daniel N. Bach
5.   Yasuo Kitamoto – Independent Director
6.   Simeon V. Marcelo – Independent Director 
7.   David Lucas B. Balangue ­ Independent Director

Upon motion  to declare all  the nominees elected as Directors  for  the ensuing year 
duly  made  and  seconded,  the  stockholders  unanimously  approved  the  motion  and  the 
Chairman declared that all the nominees were elected as Directors for the ensuing year, who 
shall act as such until their successors shall have been duly elected and qualified. 

  

VII.  APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR 
 

Upon motion duly made and seconded, the stockholders unanimously approved the 
appointment of  the auditing  firm of SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. as  the Company’s external 
auditor for the current year. 

  

VIII.  APPROVAL OF AMENDMENTS TO THE AMENDED ARTICLES OF  INCORPORATION 
AND BY­LAWS 

 
Upon motion duly made and seconded, the stockholders unanimously approved the 

amendment  to  the  Third  Article  of  the  Amended  Articles  of  Incorporation  to  reflect  the 
change in principal office address of the Corporation, and Section 2, Article II of the By­laws   
to  reduce  the  bar  period  on  related  experience  of  independent  directors  from  five  to  two 
years  to  reflect  existing  relevant  SEC  issuances  (i.e.  SEC Memorandum Circular  No.  13, 
series of 2004.) The approval of the amendments is subject to the approval of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission. 

 

IX.  ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to transact, on motion duly made and seconded the 
meeting was adjourned. 

 
  

KRISTINE N. L. EVANGELISTA 
                           Corporate Secretary  

ATTEST:
 

TOMAS I. ALCANTARA
Chairman
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